
Committee Agenda   

1 

 

 
Council Housebuilding Cabinet Committee 
Thursday, 4th June, 2015 
 
You are invited to attend the next meeting of Council Housebuilding Cabinet Committee, 
which will be held at:  
 
Council Chamber, Civic Offices, High Street, Epping 
on Thursday, 4th June, 2015 
at 6.30 pm . 
 Glen Chipp 

Chief Executive 
 

Democratic Services 
Officer 

Jackie Leither Tel: 01992 564756 
Email: democraticservices@eppingforestdc.gov.uk 

 
Members: 
 
Councillors D Stallan (Chairman), R Bassett, W Breare-Hall, Ms S Stavrou and G Waller 
 
 
 
 

 
MEMBERS ARE REMINDED TO BRING THEIR COPIES OF  

THE DESIGN STANDARDS TO THE MEETING 
 

 
 

 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 

 2. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS   
 

  (Director of Governance) To report the appointment of any substitute members for the 
meeting. 
 

 3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

  (Director of Governance) To declare interests in any item on the agenda.  
 

 4. MINUTES  (Pages 5 - 18) 
 

  To confirm the minutes of the last meeting of the Committee held on 5 March 2015. 
 

 5. HCA INVESTMENT PARTNER QUALIFICATION  (Pages 19 - 22) 
 

  (Director of Communities) To consider the attached report (CHB-001-2015/16). 



Council Housebuilding Cabinet Committee 4 June 2015 
 

2 

 
 6. FEASIBILITY STUDIES  (Pages 23 - 212) 

 
  (Director of Communities) To consider the attached report (CHB-002-2015/16).  

 
 7. FINANCIAL REPORT  (Pages 213 - 222) 

 
  (Director of Communities) To consider the attached report (CHB-003-2015/16). 

 
 8. ACCELERATION OF THE HOUSEBUILDING PROGRAME  (Pages 223 - 232) 

 
  (Director of Communities) To consider the attached report (CHB-004-2015/16). 

 
 9. FUTURE SITES - PHASES 4 & 5  (Pages 233 - 242) 

 
  (Director of Communities) To consider the attached report (CHB-005-2015/16). 

 
 10. MARDEN CLOSE AND PHASE 1 & 2 PROGRESS REPORT  (Pages 243 - 250) 

 
  (Director of Communities) To consider the attached report (CHB-006-2015/16). 

 
 11. RISK REGISTER  (Pages 251 - 256) 

 
  (Director of Communities) To consider the attached report (CHB-007-2015/16). 

 
 12. ANY OTHER BUSINESS   

 
  Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972, together with paragraphs 6 and 

25 of the Council Procedure Rules contained in the Constitution require that the 
permission of the Chairman be obtained, after prior notice to the Chief Executive, 
before urgent business not specified in the agenda (including a supplementary agenda 
of which the statutory period of notice has been given) may be transacted. 
 
In accordance with Operational Standing Order 6 (non-executive bodies), any item 
raised by a non-member shall require the support of a member of the Committee 
concerned and the Chairman of that Committee. Two weeks’ notice of non-urgent 
items is required. 
 

 13. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS   
 

  Exclusion: To consider whether, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, the public and press should be excluded from the meeting for the items of 
business set out below on grounds that they will involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in the following paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act (as amended) or are confidential under Section 100(A)(2): 
 
Agenda Item No Subject Exempt Information 

Paragraph Number 
Nil Nil Nil 

 
The Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, which came 
into effect on 1 March 2006, requires the Council to consider whether maintaining the 
exemption listed above outweighs the potential public interest in disclosing the 



Council Housebuilding Cabinet Committee 4 June 2015 
 

3 

information. Any member who considers that this test should be applied to any 
currently exempted matter on this agenda should contact the proper officer at least 24 
hours prior to the meeting. 
 
Confidential Items Commencement: Paragraph 9 of the Council Procedure Rules 
contained in the Constitution require: 
 
(1) All business of the Council requiring to be transacted in the presence of the 

press and public to be completed by 10.00 p.m. at the latest. 
 
(2) At the time appointed under (1) above, the Chairman shall permit the 

completion of debate on any item still under consideration, and at his or her 
discretion, any other remaining business whereupon the Council shall proceed 
to exclude the public and press. 

 
(3) Any public business remaining to be dealt with shall be deferred until after the 

completion of the private part of the meeting, including items submitted for 
report rather than decision. 

 
Background Papers:  Paragraph 8 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules of 
the Constitution define background papers as being documents relating to the subject 
matter of the report which in the Proper Officer's opinion: 
 
(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

report is based;  and 
 
(b) have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report and does not 

include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential 
information (as defined in Rule 10) and in respect of executive reports, the 
advice of any political advisor. 

 
Inspection of background papers may be arranged by contacting the officer 
responsible for the item. 
 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

EPPING FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL 
COMMITTEE MINUTES 

 
Committee: Council Housebuilding Cabinet 

Committee 
Date: Thursday, 5 March 2015 

    
Place: Council Chamber, Civic Offices, 

High Street, Epping 
Time: 6.30  - 8.30 pm 

  
Members 
Present: 

D Stallan (Chairman), R Bassett, Ms S Stavrou, G Waller and A Lion 
  
Other 
Councillors: 

Mrs A Grigg, C C Pond, C Roberts, C Whitbread, Mrs J H Whitehouse and 
J M Whitehouse 

  
Apologies: Councillor W Breare-Hall 
  
Officers 
Present: 

A Hall (Director of Communities), P Pledger (Assistant Director (Housing 
Property)) and J Leither (Democratic Services Assistant) 

  
Also in 
attendance: 
 

D Read (East Thames Group), I Collins (Pellings LLP) and N Penfold  
(Pellings LLP) 

 
 

40. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  
 
The Cabinet Committee noted that Councillor A Lion substituted for Councillor W 
Breare-Hall at the meeting. 
 

41. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest pursuant to the Council’s Code of Member 
Conduct. 
 
The Chairman advised the Cabinet Committee that he would stand down as 
Chairman for Agenda Item 6, Queens Road, North Weald as he was a Ward Member 
and that Councillor R Bassett would assume the Chairmanship for this item. 
 

42. MINUTES  
 
Resolved: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 18 December 2014 be taken as read and 
signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 
 

43. PHASE 2 - FUTURE USE OPTIONS  
 
The Assistant Director of Housing (Property) presented a report to the Cabinet 
Committee, he advised that on 7 January 2015, the Area Planning Sub-Committee 
(South) considered and refused planning permission for Phase 2 of the Council’s 
Housebuilding Programme at Burton Road, Loughton consisting of 52 new affordable 
homes for applicants on the Council’s housing register. The decision for refusal was 
recorded as:  
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



Council Housebuilding Cabinet Committee Thursday, 5 March 2015 

2 

‘By reason of its bulk, design and density in terms of numbers of dwellings, the 
proposal would have an overbearing relationship with neighbouring land to the 
detriment of the visual amenities of the locality’.  
 
In line with the Policy on the Future Use of Development Sites Unsuitable for 
Development agreed in April 2014, the Cabinet Committee considered the future use 
of the development site at Burton Road, Loughton. Set out below were a number of 
options:. 
 
(1) Appeal Against the Planning Decision 
 
Any applicant was entitled to submit an appeal to the Secretary of State against a 
decision relating to a planning application. The Council had never before appealed 
against its own decision. However, in this instance, the application for Phase 2 of the 
Council’s Housebuilding Programme was submitted in the name of East Thames 
Group (ETG), who were the Council’s appointed Development Agent and they could 
be requested to submit an appeal, funded in full by the Council (since it was the 
Council that funded the Housebuilding Programme). 
 
When submitting an appeal, applicants could ask for the case to be dealt with as a 
Written Representation, a Hearing or an Enquiry. If the Council were to take any of 
these appeal options it was important to note that the Council would have to pay for 
not only the Consultants fees and disbursements to prepare and present the appeal 
but also the fees associated with defending the appeal. There were a number of 
differences for each of the appeal processes, which are set out below: 

 
a. Written Representation – Where both the applicant (ETG) and the 
Council submit a written statement of case including all supporting 
documentations. The appointed Planning Inspector will then consider the 
documents, often visiting the site before reaching a decision. This could take 
between 3 and 6 months from submission before a decision was reached. 
ETG have estimated the cost of submitting a Written Representation to be 
around £5,000, and the cost of defending the appeal was estimated to be in 
the region of £2,500. 
 
b. Hearing – A simple examination of the matters arising under the 
appeal, normally where evidence did not need to be tested under cross 
examination. A hearing was normally heard over one day, and was led by the 
Planning Inspector. This could take between 6 and 9 months from submission 
before a decision was reached. ETG have estimated the cost of submitting an 
appeal and attending the hearing to be around £27,500 (excluding VAT and 
disbursements), and the cost of defending the appeal was estimated to be in 
the region of £4,500. 

 
c. Public Inquiry – This was similar to a hearing. However, this required 
the appointment of legal representation in the form of a Barrister on each side 
for the purpose of cross examination of evidence. This could take between 9 
and 12 months from submission before a decision was reached. ETG have 
estimated the cost of submitting an appeal and attending the Public Inquiry to 
be around £34,375 plus £15,000 for Legal Representation (excluding VAT 
and disbursements) and the cost of defending the appeal was estimated to be 
in the region of £4,500 plus £15,000 for its own legal representation. 

 
The Cabinet Committee did not have delegated authority to submit an appeal, 
therefore, if the decision of the Cabinet Committee was to appeal, then on a point of 

Page 6



Council Housebuilding Cabinet Committee Thursday, 5 March 2015 

3 

procedure, it must seek the approval of Council. Any appeal must be submitted by 7 
July 2015, being 6 months of the decision being reached. 
 
The main risks associated with submitting an appeal was that the Planning Inspector 
may decide to uphold the decision of the Area Planning Sub-Committee (South), in 
which case there would not only be a substantial delay in the house-building 
programme, but there would also be a significant amount of abortive fees. The risk to 
the Council’s reputation over appealing against its own decision should also not be 
overlooked. 

 
(2) To submit a revised planning application for a scheme consisting of 43 
new affordable homes with 100% unallocated parking (Option 1) 

 
Attached to the Agenda at Appendix 1 was a feasibility study, which considered an 
alternative design for the site based on a 43-home scheme with 100% unallocated 
parking. Whilst this did address the reasons for refusal, and also addressed 
objections raised by local residents, in response to the planning application, it was 
less favourable to the Council’s Planning Officers due to the large banks of open 
parking and its impact on the environment. 
 
The main differences between this design and the original that was refused planning 
permission was the loss of 3 flats to one end of Block C to create one bank of parking 
spaces, the removal of the four top-floor flats reducing the overall height to 3-stories 
and the loss of 2x3 bedroom houses to create a second bank of parking spaces so 
as to achieve 100% parking across the whole scheme. There was a loss of amenity 
space as a result of this design change in order to accommodate the additional 
parking. 

 
The schedule of materials, fenestration and overall elevational treatment would need 
to be considered in more detail to take account of the design changes. 

 
From the financial Investment Report at Appendix 3 of the Agenda, the Total Scheme 
Costs for a 43 home scheme was £8.06m, which was made up of £7.2m works costs 
and £0.86m fees.  

 
The financial target of loan repayment in Year 30 could be achieved providing it 
received subsidy of £2.24m. The subsidy per unit equates to £52,000. 

 
The additional design fees payable to ETG and their Architects for preparing a 
revised set of drawings and details and re-submitting the planning application would 
be £21,550 plus VAT. There were no additional planning application fees if 
resubmitted before 7 January 2016. 

 
Should this option be agreed by the Cabinet Committee, there would be a resultant 
loss of HCA Affordable Housing Grant. For estimating purposes, a reduced rate of 
£12,500 per flat could be assumed. However, this would require negotiating with the 
HCA. 

 
The Cabinet Committee had already agreed to make a contribution to the NHS for 
healthcare provision within the District, albeit based on a 52-unit scheme. Should that 
be reduced to 43 homes as a result of this option then the Council would need to 
negotiate with the NHS over an alternative amount of financial contribution and enter 
into a new Unilateral Undertaking. 
 
The main risks associated with this option were that the revised scheme may not be 
seen as going far enough to overcome the concerns of the Area Planning Sub-

Page 7



Council Housebuilding Cabinet Committee Thursday, 5 March 2015 

4 

Committee (South) and was once again refused planning permission by the Sub-
Committee, resulting in further abortive fees.  
 
(3) To submit a revised planning application, for a scheme consisting of 52 
affordable homes and 50% unallocated parking, but reduced in height, scale 
and massing (Option 2) 
 
Attached at Appendix 2 of the Agenda was a feasibility study, which considered an 
alternative design for the site based on a reduction in height, scale and massing, yet 
still achieved 52 new affordable homes and 50% unallocated parking. Whilst this did 
address the majority of the reasons for refusal, it did not address concerns over 
density. The scheme does not increase the parking allocation either, although it 
should be noted that this was not a reason for refusal. 
 
From the Financial Investment Report at Appendix 3 of the Agenda, the Total 
Scheme Costs for this revised scheme consisting of 52 new affordable homes was 
£9.26m, which was made up of £8.25m works costs and £1.01m fees.  

 
The financial target of loan repayment in Year 30 could be achieved providing it 
received subsidy of £2.18m. The subsidy per unit equates to £42,000. 

 
The additional design fees payable to ETG and their Architects for preparing a 
revised set of drawings and details and re-submitting the planning application would 
be £21,550 plus VAT. There were no additional planning application fees if re-
submitted before 7 January 2016. 
 
Should this option be agreed by the Cabinet Committee, it would mean the existing 
HCA affordable Housing Grant would remain the same as would the financial 
contribution to the NHS towards healthcare in the district. 

 
The main risks associated with this option were, again that the revised scheme did 
not go far enough to overcome the concerns of the Area Planning Sub-Committee 
(South) and was once again refused planning permission, resulting in abortive fees. 
 
(4) To sell the site for affordable rented housing to a Housing Association 
in return for a capital receipt 
 
Should the Cabinet Committee opt to sell the site, then one option would be to sell it 
to one of the Council’s Preferred Housing Association Partners, for them to develop 
the site for affordable housing, from which the Council could obtain nomination rights. 
This would benefit the Council by way of a capital receipt for the land value, which 
could be used to fund other Council House-building developments. 
 
The value of the land had not been assessed; therefore, should this option be agreed 
by the Cabinet Committee, it would mean a separate financial viability study would 
need to be undertaken to establish a land value and consideration of the most 
appropriate way to appoint the housing association. 

 
The main drawback was the fact the Council would not retain the affordable rent for 
the homes that were built, and that a similar number of homes would have to be put 
into the Council Housebuilding Programme to replace these ones taken out. There 
was also the consideration that a housing association could submit plans for more 
homes to be delivered on the site. 

 
Since the Council had secured HCA Affordable Housing Grant for the delivery of 
affordable housing on this site based on a firm scheme, Officers were also of the 

Page 8



Council Housebuilding Cabinet Committee Thursday, 5 March 2015 

5 

view that this would cause reputational difficulties with the HCA, bearing in mind that 
this was only the first scheme where grant had been secured, and could result in the 
not agreeing any future affordable housing grant applications from the Council. 
 
(5) To sell the site for private development in return for a capital receipt 
 
The benefits, drawbacks and risks associated with this option were similar to those 
above. However, the land value would be higher; no more than 40% affordable 
homes are likely to be provided; and the potential for a private developer submitting 
plans for more units on the site was greater. 

 
(6) To divide up the site and sell the land to local residents to extend their 
private gardens in return for a capital receipt 
 
Whilst this option appears in the policy for the Future Use of Development Sites 
Unsuitable for Development, in this instance this option was not ideally suited since 
the site backed on to a row of flat blocks where the gardens were back to back.  
 
Since the land would be sold for private gardens, the value would be very low and 
reaching agreements with all of the individual occupiers of the flats would be near 
impossible. The cost of drawing up legal agreements would almost offset any value 
in the land. 

 
(7) To demolish the garages, re-surface and mark out the land and to leave 
the site as open car parking for local residents 
 
With Debden Station so close, and with the adjacent shopping parade at Debden 
Broadway, the land could be utilised as an extension of the “Pay and Display” car 
park. This would create a revenue income for the Council, but it would require the 
land to be transferred from the HRA to the General Fund, for an appropriate fee. 
 
Such an option would not provide any much needed affordable housing in the district, 
and as with selling the site, there was a risk that the HCA would frown upon any 
future affordable housing grant applications from the Council, as the allocation had 
been based on a firm bid. 
 
(8) To sell the site to a Town or Parish Council for their own purposes (eg. 
public amenity space) in return for a capital receipt 
 
Whilst this could be viable option, this was likely to generate a significant capital 
receipt on the scale of selling to a private developer or an ongoing revenue income 
similar to what could be realised from car parking charges, and as such was not 
recommended.  
 
Decision: 
 
(1) That, having considered the options for the future use to be adopted for the 
development site at Burton Road, Loughton, following the decision of the Area 
Planning Sub-Committee (South) to refuse planning permission for Phase 2 of the 
Council’s house-building Programme, a revised planning application be submitted for 
a scheme similar to that previously submitted, consisting of 52 new affordable homes 
and 50% unallocated parking (shown as Option 2 at Appendix 2 of the report to the 
Cabinet Committee) but addressing the reasons for refusal by reducing its bulk, 
altering its design and overall height so as to reduce any impact on the neighbouring 
land and any detriment of the visual amenities of the locality, all as set out in the 

Page 9



Council Housebuilding Cabinet Committee Thursday, 5 March 2015 

6 

feasibility report at an estimated cost of £9,255,439, which will require an increased 
subsidy of around £2,184,000 (£42k per unit) based on a 30-year pay-back period. 
 
(2) That a detailed planning application for the scheme be submitted. 
 
(3) That a report be submitted to the Cabinet recommending that priority be given 
to the provision of an off-street parking scheme in Torrington Drive, Loughton being 
undertaken, subject to a resident consultation. 
 
(4) That the Director of Neighbourhoods be asked to give consideration to 
including any new off-street parking spaces being provided as a Residents Parking 
Scheme. 
 
Reasons for Decision: 
 
The Cabinet Committee had to decide on the future use of the development site at 
Burton Road since the planning application for Phase 2 of the Council House-building 
Programme was refused permission at the Area Planning Sub-Committee (South) on 
7 January 2015.   
 
Other Options Considered and Rejected: 
 
The report set out all of the options that were available, including the advantages, 
disadvantages and costs for each option. 
 

44. FEASIBILITY STUDIES (REVISED) - CENTRE DRIVE (SITE B), EPPING AND 
QUEENS ROAD, NORTH WEALD  
 
The Chairman stated that he would stand down as Chairman for item (1) Queens 
Road, North Weald, and Councillor R Bassett assumed the Chairmanship for this 
item. 
 
The Assistant Director of Housing (Property) presented a report to the Cabinet 
Committee. He advised that at the last meeting of the Cabinet Committee on 18 
December 2014, it had been decided that the sites at Queens Road, North Weald 
and Centre Drive, Epping, Site B be deferred for further information and revised 
feasibility studies. 
 
(1) Queens Road, North Weald 
 
The Assistant Director advised that the revised feasibility study was for 12 x 3 
bedroom houses which were 2 stories high and each had 2 car parking spaces. 
There were also 4 extra visitor car parking spaces on the site. 
 
He reported that no firm costs could be confirmed at this meeting for the re-siting of 
the substation, but that it had been estimated at £120,000. 
 
Members were concerned that if negotiations with the tenant regarding the re-siting 
of the substation broke down then the Council, being the owners of the land, could by 
delegated authority issue a notice of seeking possession to the tenant. Members 
asked that if negotiations broke down with the tenant and before any firm decisions 
were made, they would like this item to come back to the Cabinet Committee for 
further discussion. 
 
(2) Site B, Centre Drive, Epping 
 

Page 10



Council Housebuilding Cabinet Committee Thursday, 5 March 2015 

7 

The Assistant Director advised that the revised feasibility study was for 1 x 3 
bedroom house which was 2 stories high with 3 car parking spaces. 
 
Decision: 
 
That, following consideration of a revised feasibility study and viability assessment for 
the sites at Queens Road, North Weald and Centre Drive (Site B) Epping, which took 
account of the Cabinet Committee’s comments made at its December 2014 meeting 
consideration. 
 
(1) Queens Road, North Weald 
 
(a) The revised feasibility study of 12 x 3 bedroom, 2 storey units with a total of 
28 car parking spaces be agreed as a viable site to progress to a detailed planning 
stage; 
 
(b) The terms of any existing licence/lease, allowing access to the allotments, be 
maintained; and 
 
(c) A further report be submitted to the Council Housebuilding Cabinet 
Committee should negotiations with the tenant in Queens Road, regarding the re-
siting of the substation break down. 
 
(2) Site B, Centre Drive, Epping 
 
The revised feasibility study of 1 x 3 bedroom house, 2 storey’s high with a total of 3 
car parking spaces be agreed as a viable site to progress to a detailed planning 
stage. 
 
Reasons for Decision: 
 
At its meeting in December 2014, the Cabinet Committee asked that each of the 2 
sites at Queens Road, North Weald and Centre Drive (Site B) Epping sites be 
revised to provide an alternative mix of dwellings. Each site is presented on its own 
merits at this stage. However, when each of the feasibility studies have been 
considered, the Cabinet Committee will then be asked to batch the sites in line with 
the Policy on Prioritisation of Sites. 
 
Other Options Considered and Rejected: 
 
1. Not to progress with any of the schemes presented in the agenda report.  
 
2. To develop the sites with a different number of homes, or with an alternative 
mix of property types or parking allocation.  
 

45. STREET / BUILDING NAMING - PHASE 1  
 
The Director of Communities presented a report to the Cabinet Committee he 
advised that in accordance with the Terms of Reference, the names of developments 
undertaken through the Council House Building Programme would follow 
consultation with the Parish or Town Councils and Ward Members. 
 
The Director had consulted Waltham Abbey Town Council on the two remaining un-
named developments within Phase 1 and, as requested, they had provided five 
suggested names for each development, in a ranked order of preference. 
 

Page 11



Council Housebuilding Cabinet Committee Thursday, 5 March 2015 

8 

The three Ward Members had been consulted on the Town Council’s suggestions, 
and had raised no objections. 
 
It was therefore proposed that the two developments be named in accordance with 
the Town Council’s two most preferred names.  
 
Decision: 
 
That, following consultation with Waltham Abbey Town Council and the three Ward 
Members, and as suggested by the Town Council: 
 
(a) The four houses and two duplex flats at the site of the former Red Cross Hall, 

Roundhills, Waltham Abbey be named “Hockley Court”; and 
 
(b)  The two new houses to the rear of 66-72 Fairways, Waltham Abbey be 

named “Wood Villas”. 
 

Reasons for Decision: 
 

The two remaining un-named developments in Phase 1 of the Council Housebuilding 
Programme required names. The Cabinet Committee had been authorised by the 
Leader of the Council to decide the names of new developments. 
 
Other Options Considered and Rejected: 
 

The main options appear to be: 
 
(a)  To name the developments after any of the other names suggested by the Town 
Council; or 
 
(b)  To agree different names proposed by the Cabinet Committee itself.  
 

46. PROGRESS REPORT MARDEN CLOSE, FAVERSHAM HALL AND PHASE 1  
 
The Assistant Director of Housing (Property) presented a report to the Cabinet 
Committee, he advised that Phase 1, Marden Close and Faversham Hall, were 
running behind programme for a variety of reasons and asked the Consultants who 
were overseeing Phase 1, Pellings LLP, to advise the Cabinet Committee of the 
problems that had been encountered. 
 
Ian Collins from Pellings LLP, advised the Cabinet Committee that the two existing 
buildings at Marden Close and Faversham Hall were running behind schedule due to 
the age of the buildings and structural issues which at the time of tender these 
elements could not be seen and were therefore not able to be factored into the time 
frame. This scheme was delayed by approximately 4-5 weeks, whereas Phase 1 was 
delayed due to ground conditions that required the foundations to be piled. 
 
Members expressed concern with this delay and asked for an updated progress 
report at the next meeting and also if there were any financial penalties for lateness 
passed on to the Contractors, that a report on the costs be submitted at the next 
meeting. 
 
Decision: 
 
That the current progress with regard to Marden Close and Faversham Hall, as well 
as Phases 1 of the Council Housebuilding Programme be noted. 

Page 12



Council Housebuilding Cabinet Committee Thursday, 5 March 2015 

9 

Reasons for Decision: 
 
It was a requirement that the Housebuilding Cabinet Committee received regular 
updates on progress and monitors expenditure against the House-building budget as 
delegated by the Cabinet. 
 
Other Options Considered and Rejected: 
 
This report is for noting only. 
 

47. FINANCIAL REPORTS  
 
The Assistant Director of Housing (Property) presented a report to the Cabinet 
Committee, he advised that the schedule set out at Agenda Item 9, Appendix 1 was 
the current position as at 31 December 2014 with regard to the Right to Buy receipts. 
 
The Assistant Director advised that one of the Cabinet Committee’s Terms of 
Reference was to monitor expenditure on the Housing Capital Programme Budget for 
the Council Housebuilding Programme, ensuring the use (within the required 
deadlines) of the capital receipts made available through the Council’s Agreement 
with the Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) allowing the use 
of additional “Replacement Right to Buy (RTB) Receipts” received as a result of the 
Government’s increase in the maximum RTB Discount to be spent on housebuilding. 
 
At its meeting in February 2014, the Cabinet Committee received a suite of detailed 
financial reports covering all financial issues relating to the Housebuilding 
Programme. Since progress was on a phase by phase basis and was monitored 
separately it had been possible to consolidate the detailed financial reports into just 2 
appendices. 
 
Appendix 1 (Agenda Item 9) captured the total amount of Replacement Right To Buy 
Receipts received and available for use for “One-for-One Replacement” on the 
Council’s Housebuilding Programme, as captured on the Pooling Return to the DCLG 
and when it was required to be spent. It also captured the actual expenditure to date 
and compared that to the projected future planned expenditure profile. 

 
Appendix 2 (Agenda Item 9) set out the amount and use of financial contributions 
available to the Council’s Housebuilding Programme from Section 106 Agreements, 
in lieu of the provision of on-site affordable housing on private development sites, 
and other sources of funding (e.g. sales of HRA land and non-RTB property, and 
external funding) 

 
This information had been captured and presented for monitoring purposes, therefore 
it was recommended that the current financial position be noted. 
 
Decision: 
 
(1) That the current financial position be noted, in respect of: 
 

(a) The amount of additional “Replacement Right to Buy (RTB) Receipts” 
for utilisation under the Government’s “one-for-one replacement” scheme that 
has been received; when it is required to be spent; the actual expenditure to 
date; and the future planned expenditure profile (Appendix 1); and 

 
(b) The amount and use of financial contributions available to the 
Council’s Housebuilding Programme from Section 106 Agreements, in lieu of 

Page 13



Council Housebuilding Cabinet Committee Thursday, 5 March 2015 

10 

the provision of on-site affordable housing on private development sites, and 
other sources of funding (e.g. sales of HRA land and non-RTB property, and 
external funding) (Appendix 2). 

 
Reasons for Decision: 
 
The Council’s Housebuilding Programme was a high profile, high cost activity. It was 
therefore essential to ensure that budgets, costs and expenditure were properly 
monitored, to enable corrective action to be taken at the earliest opportunity, when 
necessary. 
 
Other Options Considered and Rejected: 
 
Not to have regular Financial Reports presented to the Cabinet Committee.  
 

48. PRIORITISATION OF POTENTIAL FUTURE SITES  
 
The Assistant Director of Housing (Property) presented a report to the Cabinet 
Committee, he advised that at its meeting in February 2014, the Cabinet Committee 
agreed a Policy on the future prioritisation of development sites based on rotating the 
developments around the towns/villages where sites were located, so that all areas 
had the benefit of affordable housing being provided in their area, with priority given 
to areas in which the highest number of housing applicants lived. The strategy that 
was agreed took account of: 
 

 (a) Towns/villages with sites that could potentially deliver the greatest number of 
new properties being prioritised in preference to locations where less properties 
could be delivered; and 
 
(b) Where possible, development packages/phases (i.e. the grouping of sites into 
one works contract, usually undertaken each year) should generally comprise of sites 
within the same town/village, in order to reduce the contractor’s site set-up costs. 
 
The Assistant Director advised that although the prioritisation of locations had altered 
slightly in the last 12 months, it was recommended that the Policy on the Prioritisation 
of Sites, from which future phases, beyond Phase 3, were to be drawn up and be 
based on the revised ranking table below, with Phase 4 focussing on sites in Ongar 
and Buckhurst Hill. 
 
Group A (Comprising towns/villages with sites that could potentially deliver 10 or 
more new homes in total) 
 

Group A 
(Capacity for 10 or more new homes) 

Priority 
Order 

 
Location 

No. of Housing 
Applicants 

 
No. of Sites 

Max. No. of 
Properties 

1 Loughton 459    16(#)    52(#) 
2 Waltham Abbey 413 18    71(*) 
3 Epping 102   5 12 
4 Ongar 84   2 11 
5 Buckhurst Hill  70   5 23 
6 North Weald 40   2 16 

(*) = Including the Year 1 sites                                (#) = Excluding the sites at The Broadway 
 
 

Page 14



Council Housebuilding Cabinet Committee Thursday, 5 March 2015 

11 

Group B (Comprising towns/villages with sites that could potentially deliver less than 
10 new homes in total) 
 

Group B 
(Capacity for less than 10 new homes) 

Priority 
Order 

 
Location 

No. of 
Housing 
Applicants 

 
No. of 
Sites 

Max. No. of 
Properties 

1 Roydon  23    1     3 
2 Nazeing 19    2    7 
3 Theydon Bois 16    2    5  
4 High Ongar  13    1    2 
5 Coopersale 9    3      7   
6 Matching Green/Tye 2    1     2 

 
With the locations already agreed by the Cabinet Committee for Phases 1 and 2 as 
Waltham Abbey and Loughton respectively, Phase 3 was identified in the report on 
the prioritisation of sites agreed by the Cabinet Committee in February 2014 as being 
Epping, Coopersale and North Weald. The Cabinet committee considered the 
feasibility studies for those sites at its meeting in December 2014, and all but three 
sites were considered viable. However, for two of the sites at Queens Road, North 
Weald and Centre Drive (Site B), Epping the Cabinet Committee asked that these be 
redrawn to achieve a different mix of properties, which had been presented and 
agreed in an earlier Agenda item.  

 
It was therefore recommended that Phase 3 be made up of 35 new homes on the 
following sites, being approved as viable, based on a total scheme cost of 
£6,395,477, with a subsidy requirement of £923,600: 

 
a) Queens Road, North Weald  -  12x3-bed 5P houses 
b) Bluemans End, North Weald - 4x3-bed 5P houses 
c) Stewards Green Road, Epping - 4x3-bed 5P houses 
d) Site A Parklands, Coopersale - 2x1-bed 2P flats & 2x2-bed 4P houses 
e) Site C Parklands, Coopersale - 1x2-bed 4P bungalow 
f) Centre Avenue, Epping - 2x3-bed 5P houses 
g) Centre Drive (Site B), Epping - 1x3-bed 5P houses 
h) Site B Springfield, Epping - 2x1-bed 2P bungalows 
i) Site C Springfield, Epping - 2x1-bed 2P bungalows & 2x2-bed 4P houses 
j) 79 London Road, Ongar - 1x3-bed 5P house 
 
Recommended: 
 
(1) That the strategic approach adopted by the Cabinet Committee at its meeting 
in February 2014 continues for the prioritisation of potential sites;  

 
(2) That, taking account of the strategic approach for the prioritisation of potential 
sites, and using updated statistics as at February 2015, locations be grouped 
together into the following two Groups and the Priority Orders shown: 

 
Group A (Locations with sites that could potentially deliver 10 or more homes): 

 
Priority Location 
 
1 Loughton 
2 Waltham Abbey 
3 Epping 

Page 15



Council Housebuilding Cabinet Committee Thursday, 5 March 2015 

12 

4 Ongar 
5 Buckhurst Hill  
6 North Weald 

 
 Group B (Locations with sites that could potentially deliver less than 10 homes): 

 
Priority Location 
 
1 Roydon  
2 Nazeing 
3 Theydon Bois 
4 High Ongar  
5 Coopersale 
6 Matching Green/Tye 

 
(3) That a review of the priority orders within Groups A and B in (2) above be 
undertaken by the Cabinet Committee in 3-years’ time, having regard to the same 
strategic approach set-out in the existing Policy on the Prioritisation of sites; and 
 
(4) That, taking account of the priority order agreed by the Cabinet Committee in 
February 2014, Phase 3 be made up of 35 new homes on the following sites already 
agreed as viable by the Cabinet Committee at its meeting in December 2014, subject 
to the two revised feasibility studies at Queens Road, North Weald and Centre Drive 
(Site B), Epping, considered earlier on the agenda, being agreed, based on a total 
scheme cost of £6,395,477, with a subsidy requirement of £923,600: 
 
a) Queens Road, North Weald  -  12x3-bed 5P houses 
b) Bluemans End, North Weald - 4x3-bed 5P houses 
c) Stewards Green Road, Epping - 4x3-bed 5P houses 
d) Site A Parklands, Coopersale - 2x1-bed 2P flats & 2x2-bed 4P houses 
e) Site C Parklands, Coopersale - 1x2-bed 4P bungalow 
f) Centre Avenue, Epping - 2x3-bed 5P houses 
g) Centre Drive (Site B), Epping - 1x3-bed 5P houses 
h) Site B Springfield, Epping - 2x1-bed 2P bungalows 
i) Site C Springfield, Epping - 2x1-bed 2P bungalows & 2x2-bed 4P houses 
j) 79 London Road, Ongar - 1x3-bed 5P house 
 
(5) That, subject to the sites listed in Decision (4) above being agreed, each site 
be progressed to detailed design stage, with planning applications being submitted 
and, subject to planning approval, tenders to be sought in accordance with the 
Procurement Strategy for House-building; and 

 
(6) That Phase 4 of the Council’s House-building Programme focusses on Ongar 
and Buckhurst Hill.  
 
Reasons for Decision: 
 
There was a need to review the prioritisation of potential sites for development based 
on the demand from those registered on the Council’s housing waiting list, and also 
to agree the sites that were to go forward for Phase 3 of the Council House-building 
Programme. 
 
Other Options Considered and Rejected: 
 
The main alternative options appear to be: 
 

Page 16



Council Housebuilding Cabinet Committee Thursday, 5 March 2015 

13 

(a) To adopt a different approach to the prioritisation of sites – of which there are 
a myriad of alternatives; 
 
(b) To alter the list of sites proposed for Phase 3; and 
 
(c) To review the prioritisation of sites in 12-months’ time. However, due to the 
lead-in time to develop the feasibility studies and undertake the legal checks, it 
makes planning future phases difficult if the priority order changes on an annual 
basis.  
 

49. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
 
The Chairman advised the Cabinet Committee the dates of the next two meetings 
would be 16 June 2015 and 14 July 2015 at 6.30pm in the Council Chamber.  
 

50. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS  
 
The Cabinet Committee noted that there were no items of business on the agenda 
that necessitated the exclusion of the public and press from the meeting. 
 

 
 

CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



Report to the Council Housebuilding 
Cabinet Committee 
 
Report reference:   CHB-001-2015/16 
Date of meeting: 4 June 2015 

 

Portfolio: 
 

Housing 
Subject: 
 

HCA Investment Partner Qualification 
Responsible Officer:  
 

P Pledger – Asst Director (Housing Property & 
Development) (01992 564248) 

Democratic Services: Jackie Leither (01992 564756) 
 

   
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 
That the Cabinet Committee notes that the Council has qualified as an Investment Partner 
with the Homes and Communities Agency.  
 
Executive Summary: 
 
This report is making Members aware of the outcome of the Council’s application to the Homes 
and Communities Agency (HCA) to become an Investment Partner 
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
 
It was a requirement of the contract with East Thames, as the Council’s Development Agent, 
that they make an application on behalf of the Council to the Homes and Communities Agency 
to become and investment Partner so that the Council can apply for Affordable Housing Grant. 
This report notes the outcome of that application. 
 
Other Options for Action: 
 
This report is for noting only.  
 
Report: 
1. On behalf of the Council, East Thames have made an application to the Homes and 

Communities Agency to become Investment Partners thereby qualifying for Affordable 
Housing Grant as part of the HCA’s Affordable Homes Programme 2015-18. 

 
2. Without this qualification, the Council would not be able to draw on the £500,000 grant that 

has been awarded for 40 new 1 and 2-bed homes at Burton Road, Loughton as part of 
Phase 2 of the Council’s House-building Programme 

 
3. The application was submitted shortly after the announcement was made by the HCA on 

the outcome of the 2015-18 bid round. 
 
4. East Thames Group have received written notification in a letter dated 19 May 2015 that the 

Council has now qualified to participate in the Affordable Homes Programme 2015-18 on 
the basis that the Council will be working with East Thames Group as its development 
partner, which not only secures the £500,000 HCA Grant for Phase 2 but also enables the 
Council to make further bids to the HCA for Affordable Homes Grant on future phases of its 
House-building Programme should the Council decide. 

 
Page 19

Agenda Item 5



Resource Implications: 
 

• £3,000, being the fee agreed with East Thames Group to make the application for HCA 
Partner Status as part of their tender. 
 

Legal and Governance Implications: 
 
HCA Agreement 
 
Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications: 
 
None 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
None 
 
Background Papers: 
 
Contract documents appointing East Thames as the Development Agent 
Cabinet Committee decision to apply for HCA Grant 
HCA Agreement 
Letter dated 19 May 2015 informing East Thames of the outcome of the application 
 
Risk Management: 
 
None. This report is for noting 

 

Page 20



Due Regard Record 
 

This page shows which groups of people are affected by the subject of this 
report. It sets out how they are affected and how any unlawful 
discrimination they experience can be eliminated.  It also includes 
information about how access to the service(s) subject to this report can be 
improved for the different groups of people; and how they can be assisted to 
understand each other better as a result of the subject of this report.   
 
S149 Equality Act 2010 requires that due regard must be paid to this 
information when considering the subject of this report. 
 
 
Within the Housing Service Strategy, it has been identified that the target groups that 
are affected by the Council’s house building programme are people in need of: 

- affordable housing,  
- homelessness assistance,  
- supported housing for special needs groups,  
- owners and occupiers of poor condition housing  
- council and housing association tenants. 

 
From that, it was identified that generally, there is an under provision of suitable 
accommodation for nearly all target groups. This has been reaffirmed in the most 
recent Strategic Housing Market Assessment. 
 
Decision making is affected by funding and other factors, such as the availability of 
building land suitable for particular groups e.g. the elderly or young families.  
 
There is no evidence of unlawful discrimination in relation to the provision of 
affordable housing. 
 
 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to the Council Housebuilding 
Cabinet Committee 
 
Report reference:   CHB-002-2015/16 
Date of meeting: 4 June 2015 

 
Portfolio: 
 

Housing  
Subject: 
 

Feasibility Reports – Council House-Building Programme 
Responsible Officer: 
 

Paul Pledger, Asst. Director of Housing (Property)  
(01992 564248) 

Democratic Services Officer: Jackie Leither  (01992 564756) 
 

 
Recommendations: 
 
(1) That the Cabinet Committee considers the viability of each of the 9 (nine) individual 

feasibility studies taken from the Cabinet approved list of Primary Sites, or has 
since been agreed to be added to the list since, as listed below, for consideration 
for inclusion in a future phase of the Council House-building Programme;  
 

a) Pound Close, Nazeing 
b) Palmers Green, Nazeing 
c) Millfield, High Ongar 
d) St. Peters Avenue, Ongar 
e) Queensway, Ongar 
f) Graylands, Theydon Bois 
g) Green Glade, Theydon Bois 
h) Clovers, Matching Green 
i) Parkfields (Site A), Roydon 

 
(2) That for any sites not considered viable for Council house-building, alternative uses 

be agreed based on the following options: 
 

a. To sell the site for social housing to a Housing Association in return for a 
capital receipt to fund future  Council house-building and to gain nomination 
rights for Council housing applicants; 

b. To sell the site for private development, either for residential or other use in 
return for a capital receipt to fund future  Council house-building; 

c. To divide up the site and sell the land to local residents to extend their 
private gardens in return for a capital receipt to fund future  Council house-
building; 

d. To demolish the garages, re-surface and mark out the land and to leave the 
site as open car parking for local residents; 

e. To sell the site to a Town or Parish Council for their own purposes (eg. 
public amenity space) in return for a capital receipt to fund future Council 
house-building; or 

f. To continue to market and rent the garages to local residents 
 
 
 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



Executive Summary: 
 
Each of the 9 sites included with this report are presented as individual feasibility studies, 
which identify the number of units and the mix that achievable for each site, along with the 
total scheme cost and the subsidy required to deliver the affordable housing on each site. At 
this stage, Members are to consider the merits of each site and agree which are to progress 
for inclusion in a future phase of the Council House-building Programme in line with the Policy 
on Prioritisation of Sites. 
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
 
At its meeting in August 2014, the Cabinet Committee asked that each of the sites on the 
Primary List of approved sites be progressed to feasibility stage to create a bank of sites for 
future phases of the House-building Programme. The 9 sites included in this report are from 
the original list of 65 sites approved by the Cabinet in 2012. Each site is presented on its own 
merits at this stage. However, when all of the feasibility studies have been considered, the 
Cabinet Committee will then be asked to batch the sites in line with the Policy on Prioritisation 
of Sites. 
  
Other Options for Action: 
 
1. Not to progress with any of the schemes presented in this report.  

 
2. To develop the sites with a different number of homes, or with an alternative mix of 

property types or parking allocation. 
 

Background Report: 
 
1. At its meeting in July 2012 the Cabinet agreed a list of 65 primary sites for Council-house-

building and also that the Council’s Development Agent (once appointed) prepares 
feasibility studies on all of those sites. 
 

2. Furthermore, at its meeting in April 2014, the Cabinet Committee agreed to accelerate the 
House-building Programme by increasing the number of homes per year from 20 to 30 
over a 10-year programme as opposed to a 6-year programme that was previously the 
target. This has resulted in the need to bring forward the feasibility studies for each of the 
sites at the request of the Cabinet Committee. 
 

3. Attached to this report are 9 individual feasibility studies in Nazeing, Ongar, High Ongar, 
Theydon Bois, Matching Green and Roydon. Each feasibility study considers the number 
and mix of units capable of being delivered on each site. It also estimates the total 
scheme cost for each site along with an estimate of how much subsidy will be required. A 
summary table, bringing together all of the key information from the feasibility reports can 
be found at appendix 1. 
 

4. The Cabinet Committee are at this stage only expected to make a decision around which 
sites are considered viable and suitable for development. The ultimate decision on 
phasing of areas will be undertaken at a future meeting in accordance with the Policy on 
Prioritisation of sites agreed by the Cabinet Committee as follows: 

 
a. That locations be grouped together into the following two Groups and the Priority 

Orders shown: 
 
 
 

Page 24



 Group A (Locations with sites that could potentially deliver 10 or more homes): 
 
Priority Location 
 
1 Loughton  
2 Waltham Abbey  
3 Epping 
4 Buckhurst Hill 
5 Ongar 
6 North Weald 

 
 Group B (Locations with sites that could potentially deliver less than 10 homes): 

 
Priority Location 

 
1 Theydon Bois 
2 Nazeing 
3 Roydon 
4 Coppersale 
5 High Ongar 
6 Matching Green/Tye 

 
b. That development packages/phases be formulated each year, on a rotational basis - in 

the Priority Order shown in Group A above - until the capacity for the potential number 
of homes in a location reduces to less than 10, at which point the location be moved 
into Group B. 

 
5. For those sites that are, for whatever reason, not considered to be viable or unsuitable for 

redevelopment as part of the Council’s House-building Programme, then the Cabinet 
Committee is to consider what future use should be investigated based on the following 
options: 

 
a. To sell the site for social housing to a Housing Association in return for a capital 

receipt to fund future  Council house-building and to gain nomination rights for 
Council housing applicants; 

b. To sell the site for private development, either for residential or other use in return 
for a capital receipt to fund future  Council house-building; 

c. To divide up the site and sell the land to local residents to extend their private 
gardens in return for a capital receipt to fund future  Council house-building; 

d. To demolish the garages, re-surface and mark out the land and to leave the site as 
open car parking for local residents; 

e. To sell the site to a Town or Parish Council for their own purposes (eg. public 
amenity space) in return for a capital receipt to fund future Council house-building; 
or 

f. To continue to market and rent the garages to local residents 
 

6. It is important to point out that whilst each of these feasibility reports are for sites that are 
all based in Nazeing, Ongar, High Ongar, Theydon Bois, Matching Green and Roydon, 
prioritisation will be in line with the established Policy on the Prioritisation of Sites agreed 
by the Cabinet Committee, and will be subject to a further decision on how these sites will 
be batched and phased. 

 
7. The final 12 Feasibility studies for sites in other parts of the district, which completes the 

list of 65-sites identified for Council house-building will follow in the July. 

Page 25



 
Resource Implications: 
 
The sum of the works costs and fees will be made available at the meeting. However, the 
actual costs and the year in which it will be expended will be determined at a future date. 
 
Legal and Governance Implications: 
 
Within its Terms of Reference, the House-Building Cabinet Committee is expected to consider 
each site and package of works and either approve it to progress to detailed planning stage or 
agree an alternative use. 

 
Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications: 
 
The sites being considered are currently used as garage blocks, rented to garage tenants. A 
large proportion of the site contains a former Council depot and garages which are either 
vacant or not used to park vehicles (Source: ECC Parking Standards) Redeveloping these 
garages and/or amenity land will add value to and enhance the local environment and 
streetscape. 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
None 
 
Background Papers: 
 
Development Strategy, along with the following Policies: 

• Affordable Rents Policy; 
• Funding the House-building Programme; 
• Accelerating the House-building Programme; 
• Future use of garage sites unsuitable for redevelopment; and 
• Prioritisation of sites 

 
Impact Assessments: 
 
Risk Management 
 
Within the financial viability assessment, the greatest risks are that the assumptions prove to 
be incorrect resulting in each site being un-viable. 
 
These risks are mitigated by the Council being able to either add more subsidy or not to 
progress the works beyond the planning stage. 
 
In addition, a site specific risk register has been compiled and included within the individual 
feasibility reports. 
 
Each of the feasibility studies are also subject to further legal checks to identify and tackle 
issues such as rights of way, licencing, closing access points and land-grabbing. 

Page 26



 
Due Regard Record 

 
This page shows which groups of people are affected by the subject of this 
report. It sets out how they are affected and how any unlawful discrimination 
they experience can be eliminated.  It also includes information about how access 
to the service(s) subject to this report can be improved for the different groups of 
people; and how they can be assisted to understand each other better as a 
result of the subject of this report.   
 
S149 Equality Act 2010 requires that due regard must be paid to this information 
when considering the subject of this report. 
 
 
Within the Housing Service Strategy, it has been identified that the target groups that are 
affected by the Council’s house building programme are people in need of: 

- Affordable Housing,  
- Homelessness assistance,  
- Supported housing for special needs groups,  
- Owners and occupiers of poor condition housing  
- Council and housing association tenants. 

 
From that, it was identified that generally, there is an under provision of suitable 
accommodation for nearly all target groups. This has been reaffirmed in the most recent 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment. 
 
Decision making is affected by funding and other factors, such as the availability of 
building land suitable for particular groups e.g. the elderly or young families.  
 
There is no evidence of unlawful discrimination in relation to the provision of affordable 
housing. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Report to the Council Housebuilding 
Cabinet Committee 
 
Report reference:  CHB-003-2015/16 
Date of meeting: 4 June 2015 

  
Portfolio: 
 

Housing  
Subject: 
 

Financial Reports – Council Housebuilding Programme 
Responsible Officer: 
 

Paul Pledger, Assistant Director (Housing Property 
& Development)        (01992 564248) 

Democratic Services Officer: Jackie Leither            (01992 564756) 
 

 
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 
(1) That the current financial position be noted, in respect of: 
 

(a)  The amount of additional “Replacement Right to Buy (RTB) Receipts” 
for utilisation under the Government’s “one-for-one replacement” 
scheme that has been received; when it is required to be spent; the 
actual expenditure to date; and the future planned expenditure profile 
(Appendix 1); 

 
(b)  The amount and use of financial contributions available to the Council’s 

Housebuilding Programme from Section 106 Agreements, in lieu of the 
provision of on-site affordable housing on private development sites, 
and other sources of funding (e.g. sales of HRA land and non-RTB 
property, and external funding) (Appendix 2); 

  
Executive Summary 
 
One of the Cabinet Committee’s Terms of Reference is to monitor expenditure on the 
Council Housebuilding Programme. 
 
The Financial Reports attached at Appendix 1 and 2 set out the current financial position 
with the various aspects of the Housebuilding Programme. 
 
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision 
 
The Council’s Housebuilding Programme is a high profile, high cost activity.  It is 
therefore essential to ensure that budgets, costs and expenditure are properly monitored, 
to enable corrective action to be taken at the earliest opportunity when necessary. 
 
Other Options for Action 
 
Not to have regular Financial Reports presented to the Cabinet Committee. 
 
Background 
 
1. One of the Cabinet Committee’s Terms of Reference is to monitor  expenditure on the 
Housing Capital Programme Budget for the Council Housebuilding Programme, ensuring 

Page 213

Agenda Item 7



the use (within the required deadlines) of the capital receipts made available through the 
Council’s Agreement with the Department of Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) allowing the use of additional “Replacement Right to Buy (RTB) Receipts” 
received as a result of the Government’s increase in the maximum RTB Discount to be 
spent on housebuilding. 
 
2. At its meeting in March 2015, the Cabinet Committee received a suite of detailed 
financial reports covering all financial issues relating to the Housebuilding Programme, 
including the Conversion Scheme at Marden Close. Since progress on a phase by phase 
basis is monitored separately (see separate progress report elsewhere on the agenda), it 
has been possible to consolidate the detailed financial reports into the 3 appendices as 
set out below. 
 
Appendix 1 - Captures the total amount of Replacement Right To Buy Receipts received 

and available for use for “One-for-One Replacement” on the Council’s 
House-building Programme, as captured on the Pooling Return to the 
DCLG and when it is required to be spent. It also captures the actual 
expenditure to date and compares that to the projected future planned 
expenditure profile. 

 
Appendix 2 - Sets out the amount and use of financial contributions available to the 

Council’s Housebuilding Programme from Section 106 Agreements, in lieu 
of the provision of on-site affordable housing on private development sites, 
and other sources of funding (e.g. sales of HRA land and non-RTB 
property, and external funding). 

 
Appendix 3 – Sets out the expenditure profile. This has been profiled to reflect the 

detailed programme that has been included elsewhere on the agenda, 
which discusses the need to accelerate the house-building programme. 

 
3. This information is captured and presented for monitoring purposes. However, it 
should be noted that elsewhere on the agenda it is reported that there is a need to 
accelerate the house-building programme to keep up with the rate at which the 1-4-1 
receipts are accumulating, and what the Council’s options are to meet this.  

 
Resource Implications: 
 
These are set out in the detailed Financial Reports at Appendices 1, 2 and 3. 
 
Legal and Governance Implications: 
 
It is good governance to properly monitor costs and expenditure, and keep financial 
forecasts up to date – especially for such a high profile, high cost programme. 
 
Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications: 
 
None – in relation to this report.  
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
None 
 
Background Papers: 
 
None 
 

Page 214



Impact Assessments: 
 
Risk Management 
 
One of the biggest risks to the Housebuilding Programme is the potential for budgets, 
costs and expenditure to not be property monitored, and for them to become out of 
control as a result.  Monitoring the Financial Reports helps mitigates this risk. 

Page 215



Due Regard Record 
 

This page shows which groups of people are affected by the subject of this 
report. It sets out how they are affected and how any unlawful 
discrimination they experience can be eliminated.  It also includes 
information about how access to the service(s) subject to this report can be 
improved for the different groups of people; and how they can be assisted to 
understand each other better as a result of the subject of this report.   
 
S149 Equality Act 2010 requires that due regard must be paid to this 
information when considering the subject of this report. 
 
 
Within the Housing Service Strategy, it has been identified that the target groups that 
are affected by the Council’s house building programme are people in need of: 

- Affordable Housing,  
- Homelessness assistance,  
- Supported housing for special needs groups,  
- Owners and occupiers of poor condition housing  
- Council and housing association tenants. 

 
From that, it was identified that generally, there is an under provision of suitable 
accommodation for nearly all target groups. This has been reaffirmed in the most 
recent Strategic Housing Market Assessment. 
 
Decision making is affected by funding and other factors, such as the availability of 
building land suitable for particular groups e.g. the elderly or young families.  
 
There is no evidence of unlawful discrimination in relation to the provision of 
affordable housing. 

 

Page 216



As at 18-May-2015

Amount Spend by Required Spend Actual Planned
Received To use 1-4-1's New Build Spend Expenditure Profile

Year Quarter (Cumulative) Date Year Quarter (Cumulative) (Cumulative) As at 9 March 2015
1 £40,461 30-Jun-15 1 £0 £0
2 £75,402 30-Sep-15 2 £0 £0
3 £54,266 31-Dec-15 3 £0 £0
4 £240,107 31-Mar-16 4 £48,599 £0
1 £887,480 30-Jun-16 1 £48,599 £0
2 £980,449 30-Sep-16 2 £48,599 £6,875
3 £2,182,382 31-Dec-16 3 £120,357 £72,681
4 £3,655,458 31-Mar-17 4 £133,885 £72,827
1 £4,071,253 30-Jun-17 1 £133,885 £84,884
2 £4,598,138 30-Sep-17 2 £133,885 £87,416
3 £5,244,954 31-Dec-16 3 £441,637 £326,287
4 £6,370,730 31-Mar-17 4 £795,265 £934,787
1 30-Jun-15 1 £0 £859,494 £1,719,256
2 30-Sep-15 2 £0 £0 £2,679,197
3 31-Dec-15 3 £0 £0 £3,564,125
4 31-Mar-16 4 £800,353 £0 £3,999,777
1 30-Jun-15 1 £2,958,266 £0 £4,604,348
2 30-Sep-15 2 £3,268,161 £0 £6,242,195
3 31-Dec-15 3 £7,274,605 £0 £9,199,471
4 31-Mar-16 4 £12,184,858 £0 £13,267,337
1 30-Jun-15 1 £13,570,843 £0 £17,539,160
2 30-Sep-15 2 £15,327,125 £0 £21,389,958
3 31-Dec-15 3 £17,483,179 £0 £23,981,075
4 31-Mar-16 4 £21,235,764 £0 £25,205,848
1 30-Jun-16 1
2 30-Sep-16 2
3 31-Dec-16 3
4 31-Mar-17 4

2016/17

2017/18

Total 1-4-1 Receipts Received Spend on Programme

2013/14

2015/16

2016/17

Appendix 1

2012/13

2014/15

2013/14

2017/18

2015/16

2018/19 2018/19

RTB Receipts - Housebuilding Programme

2014/15

2012/13

P
age 217



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Site P/P No Sum 
Anticipated

Sum 
Received

Used to Fund 
New House Build

Unused 
Funding

Anticipated 
Outstanding 

Sums 

Year to Fund 
New House 

Build
Date Received Conditions Comments

Schedule 106 Contributions
Great Stony School, Ongar EPF/1561/97 147,000 147,000 147,000 9-Jun-99
Colorado Exchange PH. Buckhurst Hill EPF/13/02 50,000 50,000 50,000 18-Oct-02
Monkhams, Buckhurst Way, Buckhurst Hill EPF/0005/06 25,000 25,000 25,000 29-Jun-06
Fyfield Hall, Fyfield EPF/2230/05 70,000 70,000 70,000 2-Jul-08
High St, Epping (McCarthy & Stone) EPF/0468/07 435,000 435,000 435,000 6-Jul-10
Ongar Station, Ongar (McCarthy & Stone) P1 EPF/0457/10 225,000 225,000 225,000 10-Jan-12
Ongar Station, Ongar (McCarthy & Stone) P2 EPF/0457/10 225,000 241,000 241,000 2014/15
BPI Poly Site, Brook Rd, Buckhurst Hill EPF/0446/10 100,000 101,270 101,270 2014/15 3-Jan-12
Bald Hind Pub, Chigwell EPF/0409/11 100,000 102,000 102,000 2014/15 10-Jul-12 Within 10-years of occupation of first property
Millrite Engineering, Stanford Rivers P1 EPF/1008/11 37,000 37,000 37,000 2014/15 19-Jun-14 Use 10 years from 2nd receipt
Millrite Engineering, Stanford Rivers P2 EPF/1008/11 37,000 37,000 Use 10 years from 2nd receipt 50% within 12 mths of commencement
Jennikings Nursery, Manor Rd, Chigwell 40,000 40,000 40,000 2014/15 Prior to 2014
Garden Centre, Manor Road, Chigwell EPF/0282/14 40,000 40,000 £40,000 plus interest
Nine Ashes Farm, EPF/2543/11 21,000 21,000 21,000 2014/15 Use by 3 January 2022
Woolston Manor, Chigwell EPF/2664/10 813,000 877,767 877,767 2015/16
Grange Farm EPF/2190/05 280,000 0 280,000 On the sale or occupation (whichever sooner) of 

the 20th home. 

High House Farm, Stapleford Road EPF/1374/06 100,000 0 100,000 Use within 5 years of receipt Prior to occupation
Threshers, Hastingwood EPF/739/10 100,000 100,000 100,000 2015/16
Green Man PH, Broomstickhall Rd, W/A 430,000 0 430,000 Use within 7 years of receipt On Practical Completion
The White House, Epping Upland EPF/0910/14 10,000 0 10,000 Prior to Implementation of the Planning 

Permission

Luxborough Lane, Chigwell EPF/0853/14 120,000 0 120,000 To be used for the purpose of affordable housing Prior to the occupation of no more than 15 units
TOTAL 3,405,000 2,527,643 952,000 1,520,037 1,017,000

Capital Receipts

Millfield, High Ongar (Actual) 87,000 87,000 87,000 2014/15 1-Apr-12
Lawton Road 127,500 127,500 127,500 2014/15 2-Jun-14
Leader Lodge, North Weald 652,001 642,000 642,000 2015/16 11-Dec-14 Costs of sale offset agaist receipt
10 Newmans Lane 300,000 300,000
TOTAL 1,166,501 856,500 0 856,500 300,000

Grants
Harlow Growth Area Fund - Council Housebuild 90,000 90,000 90,000 0 2014/15 23-Mar-15 For Red Cross New Build Grant claimed
Harlow Growth Area Fund - Council Housebuild 37,300 37,300 37,500 0 2015/16 23-Mar-15 For Harveyfields New Build Grant claimed
HCA Affordable Housing Grant 500,000 500,000 500,000 2015/16 For Burton Road New Build Grant to be claimed retrospectively
TOTAL 627,300 127,300 0 627,500 500,000

GRAND TOTAL 5,198,801 3,511,443 952,000 3,004,037 1,817,000

Schedule of Other Affordable Housing Funding
(Relating to agreements since 1998)

P
age 219



This page is intentionally left blank



2012/13 & Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10 Year 11 Year 12 Year 13 Year 14 30%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 27/28 (1-4-1 Usage)

Faversham Hall (1-4-1) £3,590 £58,429 £80,728 £1,708 £1,708 £146,162 43,849          

Marden Close (RCCO) £12,450 £292,144 £403,638 £8,540 £8,539 £725,312

Phase 2 (HCA) £10,549 £350,821 £3,998,119 £1,924,456 £46,349 £46,348 £6,376,641 1,912,992     

Phase 2 (1-4-1) £3,576 £118,945 £1,355,548 £652,480 £15,714 £15,714 £2,161,978

Phase 3 (1-4-1) £151,001 £3,966,383 £2,450,492 £133,123 £46,875 £46,876 £6,794,750 2,038,425     

Phase 4 (1-4-1) £151,001 £2,554,452 £3,862,423 £93,750 £86,248 £0 £46,876 £6,794,750 2,038,425     

Phase 5 (1-4-1) £116,688 £1,335,154 £4,779,843 £336,191 £133,123 £46,875 £46,876 £6,794,750 2,038,425     

Phase 6 (1-4-1) £13,750 £137,251 £4,419,389 £1,997,486 £133,123 £46,875 £46,876 £6,794,750 2,038,425     

Phase 7 (1-4-1) £13,750 £826,850 £4,883,564 £843,712 £133,123 £46,875 £46,876 £6,794,750 2,038,425     

Phase 8 (1-4-1) £116,688 £1,717,372 £4,552,309 £181,507 £133,123 £46,875 £46,876 £6,794,750 2,038,425     

Phase 9 (1-4-1) £116,688 £1,717,372 £4,552,309 £181,507 £133,123 £46,875 £46,876 £6,794,750 2,038,425     

Phase 10 (1-4-1) £116,688 £1,717,372 £4,552,309 £181,507 £133,123 £46,875 £46,876 £6,794,750 2,038,425     

Totals £120,847 £1,198,042 £3,849,700 £13,274,218 £13,871,506 £5,988,054 £9,043,418 £7,456,955 £6,724,938 £4,960,690 £408,381 £226,874 £93,751 £46,876 £0 £67,264,250 19,283,325   

Expenditure Profile Appendix 3

Totals

P
age 221



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to the Council Housebuilding 
Cabinet Committee 
 
Report reference:  CHB-004-2015/16 
Date of meeting: 4 June 2015 

  
Portfolio: 
 

Housing  
Subject: 
 

Accelerating The House-building Programme and Resources 
Required to Meet the Programme 
 

Responsible Officer: 
 

Paul Pledger, Assistant Director (Housing Property 
& Development)  (01992 564248) 

Democratic Services Officer: Jackie Leither     (01992 564756) 
 

 
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 

(1) That the Council Housebuilding Programme be accelerated further, and that 
the construction periods of Phases 3 onwards be brought forward to overlap, 
as set out in Appendix 1; 

 
(2) That the programme delivery risks of bringing forward overlapping 

construction phases be noted and accepted;  
 
(3) That recommendations be made to the Cabinet that, subject to the costs being 

able to be met from the Council Housebuilding Capital Budget: 
 

(a)  Should it be identified by the Director of Communities that there is a risk of 
one-for-one replacement capital receipts having to be passed to the 
Government, delegated authority be granted to the Housing Portfolio Holder to 
authorise the purchase of individual vacant properties for sale on the open 
market (either existing properties or new build); 
 
(b)  Delegated authority be granted by the Cabinet Committee to authorise the 
Director of Communities to enter into Development Agreements with private 
developers, and agree terms for the purchase, for affordable rented housing 
required to be provided by developers in accordance with Section 106 
Agreements, where an opportunity is presented that is considered suitable and 
appropriate; and 
 
(c)  If outline planning application is granted for development on Council-
owned land held by the General Fund at Pyrles Lane, Loughton and the Cabinet 
subsequently decides to sell the site on the open market, the sale be subject to 
a requirement that the required affordable housing element (expected to be 
between 40-50% of the total number of properties) be sold to the Council on 
practical completion, on agreed terms (to be set out in a separate Development 
Agreement) to be approved by the Cabinet when considering the sale of the 
site; 

 
(4) That, should it be identified that individual vacant market properties need to be 

purchased to avoid one-for-one capital receipts being passed to the 
Government:  

 

Page 223

Agenda Item 8



(a)  The Director of Communities be authorised to source such properties for 
sale, make verbal offers to purchase and make recommendations to the 
Housing Portfolio Holder to agree their purchase; and 
 
(b) Approval be given to the Director of Communities to appoint, on 
appropriate terms, a suitable consultant / organisation to act on the Council’s 
behalf to negotiate the purchase of such properties - including to identify 
properties, assess their condition, undertake financial viability assessments, 
make recommendations and, if approved, make offers on behalf of the Director 
of Communities; 

 
(5) That, where the Council agrees to purchase affordable rented housing from 

developers in accordance with Recommendation 3(b) and/or 3(c) above, the 
Director of Communities be authorised to employ a suitable organisation as 
the Council’s Employers Agent to act on the Council’s behalf during the 
construction period or, alternatively, to employ a Clerk of Works (or similar) to 
undertake this role as appropriate; 

 
(6) [An Appropriate recommendation relating to the staffing resources required to 

pursue legal issues on sites is to follow in advance of the meeting]    
  
Executive Summary 
 
There are many risks outside of the Council’s control that could result in delays in house-
building. Therefore, this report explores the options available to ensure that all 1-4-1 
Receipts from Right to Buy sales are spent within the required 3 years of receipt and 
none are passed on to the Government, with interest. These options include purchasing 
street properties or land on the open market, purchasing affordable homes built on 
Section 106 sites or providing local authority grant(s) to one of the Council’s Preferred 
Housing Association Partners to fund affordable housing schemes in need of grant.  
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision 
 
The Cabinet Committee have decided that all useable receipts (1-4-1) that are being 
accumulated from the sale of Council housing through the Right to Buy are to be 
reinvested back into building replacement Council housing at affordable rents. The 
Cabinet Committee have also considered a report on financing an accelerated House-
building programme so as to ensure that all 1-4-1 Receipts from Right to Buy sales are 
spent within the required 3 years of receipt and none are passed on to the Government, 
with interest.  
 
Other Options for Action 
 
There are a range of options set out in the report 
 
Background 
 
1. In July 2013, the Cabinet Committee authorised the then Director of Housing to 
sign, on behalf of the Council, a Standard Amendment to the Standard Agreement that 
the Council previously entered into with the CLG - which enabled local authorities to 
retain any additional Right to Buy (RTB) receipts generated as a result of the increased 
maximum RTB discount, in order to fund the provision of replacement Council homes in 
their district. This followed the launch of the “Reinvigorating Right to Buy and One for 
One Replacements” Policy by the CLG in March 2012. 
 

Page 224



2. At the same time, in July 2013, the Cabinet Committee put in place plans to build, 
initially, around 20 affordable homes per year for 6-years. This was subsequently 
increased, in April 2014, to an average of 30 affordable homes per year for the 7 years 
following Phases 1 and 2, as a result of the higher than expected number of Right to Buy 
(RTB) sales being completed (53 sales in 2013/14, compared to the DCLG’s 
expectations of 10 sales prior to the maximum discount being increased to £75,000); it 
was noted at the time that these increased sales now presented a real risk that not all of 
the Council’s “1-4-1 Receipts” (i.e. those that can be spent on new housebuilding,  to 
replace those lost due to the RTB) would be able to be spent within the required 3 years 
of receipt. 
 
3. Again, in July 2013 as part of that decision to establish the house-building 
programme, the Cabinet Committee agreed that 1-4-1 Receipts could also be used to 
purchase properties from the open market as a contingency, if it was identified at any 
time that 141 receipts would have to be passed to the CLG. 
 
4. In January 2015, the planning application for 52 new affordable homes at Burton 
Road, making up Phase 2 of the house-building programme was refused permission, 
which has led to a delay in the delivery of the Programme. The consequences of this 
delay were highlighted when the Cabinet Committee next considered a report on the 
current financial position with regard to 1-4-1 receipts at its meeting in March 2015. 
 
Accelerating the Programme - the preferred option for delivering the Programme 
 
5. The best value for money option for the Council continues to be building 
affordable housing on free Council owned land; therefore, the first option is to accelerate 
the house-building programme further than agreed in April 2014, bringing forward phases 
so that they now overlap each other. An assessment of the spending profile required to 
meet this timescale is set out elsewhere on the agenda. However, profiling the phasing in 
the form of a programme has been carried out and is set out at appendix 1 of this report. 
 
6. It is important for the Cabinet Committee to understand, though, that this preferred 
option brings with it a number of risks, since a multitude of problems and delays can 
arise – both before and after works commence.  A particular and real risk already 
identified of seeking to bring forward the commencement of works is that there are many 
site-specific legal issues that need to be resolved before tenders can be sought (e.g. 
unauthorised pedestrian and vehicular accesses over sites and, in the case of Queens 
Road, North Weald the need to seek the agreement of UK Power Networks to relocate 
an electricity sub-station).      
 
7. If the phasing slips in any way, then the Council will be faced with the risk of 
paying back 1-4-1 receipts, with interest. Therefore, at the request of the Cabinet 
Committee, this report explores the other options available to ensure 1-4-1 Receipts will 
be able to be spent within the required 3 years of receipt. The report also identifies and 
sets out the resources that will be required to deliver the Programme. 
 
Purchase of Properties (or land) on the Open Market 
 
8. Purchasing properties (or land) on the open market is perhaps the least value for 
money option available for spending the Council’s 1-4-1 receipts on delivering new 
affordable housing in the district. In the current climate, research shows that house-
prices are quickly rising, with market values outstripping new-build costs by almost 
100%. However, it is the quickest way of acquiring homes; and without being part of a 
chain (particularly through the purchase of empty properties), measures can be put in 
place to purchase properties at relatively short notice. 
 

Page 225



9. Identifying which properties (or land) to buy will be restricted to what is available 
on the market at any time. Ideally, the Council would look to purchase former Council 
properties (flats or houses) as they are located in areas already managed and 
maintained by the Council and generally have the same materials. Other options include 
targeting empty homes, or purchasing new-build properties where short-term 
maintenance costs will be minimal. 
 
10. Buying land would be better value than buying properties as any new homes built 
on the land would be built to the Council’s own development standards and would 
require less maintenance over its lifetime. 
 
11. To assist the Council, it will be necessary to appoint an Agent to act on the 
Council’s behalf to identify properties, assess the condition, undertake a financial viability 
assessment, make a recommendation to Officers and, if approved, make an offer. This 
would be on a fixed fee basis per property. An allowance would need to be included for 
the Council’s Legal Services to complete the conveyancing process.  
 
Section 106 Developments 
 
12. From time to time, developers come forward seeking planning approval for 
residential developments on privately owned land. Where thresholds are triggered, some 
developments require a proportion of the properties to be delivered as affordable 
housing, which is laid out in the Council’s Local Plan. Usually, the affordable housing is 
provided by one of the Council’s Preferred Housing Association Partners, whilst retaining 
nomination rights. However, on appropriate and selected development that may arise, 
the Council may wish to negotiate directly with the developers to purchase the completed 
affordable home when built and deliver the affordable housing. 
 
13. The main benefits to this are that the land value would be subsidised by the 
developer, to a large extent, properties may be able to be built to meet the Council’s 
Design Standards and would come with a 10-year guarantee as standard. Also the short 
term maintenance liabilities would be minimal, making this option relatively good value 
for money. 
 
14. The main disadvantages are that the Council would not be able to control all of the 
standards and the delivery programme, meaning the Council runs the risk of not meeting 
the timescales for spending 1-4-1 receipts.  However, this option is a credible one for the 
medium/longer term. 
 
15. The Council would not need any additional resources to deliver these sites (other 
than the capital funding to purchase the dwellings) as the developer would lead on the 
design and build at their own risk and the Council would purchase the properties upon 
completion based on an agreed value.  However, the Council would need to employ an 
Employers Agent to act on the Council’s behalf during the construction period or, 
alternatively, employ a clerk of works (or similar) to undertake this role. 
 
Development on Council General Fund sites – (e.g. Pyrles Lane) 
 
16. The Council currently owns a site at Pyrles Lane, Loughton that has been 
earmarked for sale for residential development, subject to receipt of planning permission. 
This land is held within the Council’s General Fund, and an outline planning application is 
due to be submitted and subject to approval will be sold, with all proceeds being retained 
by the General Fund. However, the site could either be purchased using 1-4-1 receipts 
by the Housing Revenue Account and all properties being developed as Council housing, 
or the site could be sold with a requirement that the required 40% affordable housing 

Page 226



element must be sold to the Council on completion, on agreed terms set out in a 
separate Development Agreement. 
 
17. The best value option for the Council would, by far, be the latter option, since this 
would enable the Council to maximise the capital receipt for the General Fund to the 
same level as simply selling it without an associated Development Agreement, whereas 
the capital receipt that would be obtained if the whole site was developed for affordable 
housing would be significantly less. 
 
18. Any other sites in the Council’s ownership held by the General Fund could also be 
sold in a similar way with the same requirements and expectations. 

 
19. Should this option be agreed, then it would be necessary to appoint either an 
Employers Agent or a Clerk of Works to oversee the works on site to ensure compliance 
with the Council’s Employers Requirements and to ensure the standard of workmanship 
is acceptable. 
 
Providing grant to one of the Council’s Preferred Housing Association Partners to fund 
affordable housing schemes 
 
20. The Council has already identified this option as a back-up measure, and it is 
recommended that this remains an option. However, this is less advantageous to the 
Council as the rent collected from the properties would revert to the Housing Association, 
with the Council only securing nomination rights. 
  
21. The Council has in the past not only provided significant amounts of Local 
Authority Social Housing Grant or Section 106 contributions received from Developers to 
Housing Associations, but has given away free land for them to develop affordable 
housing. 
 
Other factors requiring additional resources 
 
22. Each of the 65 potential development sites identified for Council house-building 
have now undergone a detailed legal search and an assessment of issues that will 
require negotiations with adjacent land-owners on matters such as purchasing land, 
stopping up unauthorised access across the Council’s land, terminating licences, dealing 
with land-grabs etc.  
 
23. Each of the issues has been risk assessed and prioritised so that those issues 
that are likely to take the longest to resolve are tacked soonest. However, the Council 
does not have any existing resources available to pursue these, nor other legal matters 
on the other sites. Therefore, the Council has made enquiries with East Thames to take 
the lead on dealing with these issues, supported by the Council’s own Housing 
Management Officers and Legal Services. The cost of providing this service is estimated 
to be [Cost to be updated as a verbal report at the Cabinet Committee]. This compares to 
recruiting staff directly for 2-years at an estimated cost of [Cost to be updated as a verbal 
report at the Cabinet Committee] including on-costs. 

 
24. Negotiations over compensation payments, land values etc will be undertaken by 
East Thames Group at an additional cost. However, it is recommended that in order to 
maintain a reasonable momentum and meet the timescales to deliver the schemes, the 
Director of Communities be delegated authority, in consultation with the Housing 
Portfolio Holder, to agree the reasonable level of payments necessary to achieve the 
required outcome of bringing forward sites for development. 
 
 

Page 227



Resource Implications: 
 
The cost of appointing as Agent to purchase street properties is being explored and an 
indication of cost will be made available at the meeting. 
 
The cost for dealing with the legal issues that are identified for each site is being explored 
and an indication of cost will be made available at the meeting. 
 
The cost of appointing an Agent to act on the Council’s behalf to negotiate and purchase 
street properties, based on a fixed fee basis per property is being explored and an 
indication of cost will be made available at the meeting.  
 
An allowance would need to be included for the Council’s Legal Services to complete the 
conveyancing process. The cost is being explored and an indication of cost will be made 
available at the meeting. 
 
The cost of appointing an Employers Agent or, alternatively, to employ a Clerk of Works 
(or similar) to act on the Council’s behalf during the construction period of any sites 
delivered on Section 106 sites would need to be identified and reported separately should 
this option be agreed. 
 
Reasonable level of payments necessary to achieve the required outcome of bringing 
forward sites for development will need to be considered on a case by case basis, and 
will be undertaken in consultation with the Housing Portfolio Holder. 
 
Legal and Governance Implications: 
 
It is good governance to properly monitor costs and expenditure, and keep financial 
forecasts up to date – especially for such a high profile, high cost programme. 
 
Legal matters associated with conveyancing will apply as will all legal matters associated 
with rights of way and  access rights. 
 
Housing Act 
 
Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications: 
 
None – in relation to this report.  
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
None 
 
Background Papers: 
 
None 
 
Impact Assessments: 
 
Risk Management 
 
Not meeting the Governments timescales for the delivery of new build affordable homes 
could lead to the Council having to pay back to the Government any 1-4-1 RTB receipts 
not spent, with interest. This report sets out a range of options to mitigate that risk. 
However, each of the options has its own risks, which are explored within the body of the 
report. 

Page 228



Due Regard Record 
 

This page shows which groups of people are affected by the subject of this 
report. It sets out how they are affected and how any unlawful discrimination 
they experience can be eliminated.  It also includes information about how 
access to the service(s) subject to this report can be improved for the different 
groups of people; and how they can be assisted to understand each other 
better as a result of the subject of this report.   
 
S149 Equality Act 2010 requires that due regard must be paid to this information 
when considering the subject of this report. 
 
 
Within the Housing Service Strategy, it has been identified that the target groups that 
are affected by the Council’s house building programme are people in need of: 
 
- Affordable Housing,  
- Homelessness assistance,  
- Supported housing for special needs groups,  
- Owners and occupiers of poor condition housing  
- Council and housing association tenants. 

 
From that, it was identified that generally, there is an under provision of suitable 
accommodation for nearly all target groups. This has been reaffirmed in the most recent 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment. 
 
Decision making is affected by funding and other factors, such as the availability of 
building land suitable for particular groups e.g. the elderly or young families.  
 
There is no evidence of unlawful discrimination in relation to the provision of affordable 
housing. 
 

Page 229



This page is intentionally left blank



ID Task 
Mode

Task Name Duration Start Finish Predecessors

1 CHBCC - June 29 days? Fri 24/04/15 Thu 04/06/15
2 Reports 19 days? Fri 24/04/15 Wed 20/05/15
3 Meeting 0 days Thu 04/06/15 Thu 04/06/15 2
4 CHBCC - July 66 days? Fri 24/04/15 Mon 27/07/15
5 Reports 59 days? Fri 24/04/15 Wed 15/07/15
6 Meeting 0 days Mon 27/07/15 Mon 27/07/15 5
7 Phase 2 606 days? Fri 08/05/15 Fri 01/09/17
8 Planning Application 64 days? Fri 08/05/15 Wed 05/08/15
9 DDC 0 days Wed 05/08/15 Wed 05/08/15

10 Planning Decision 1 day? Mon 10/08/15 Mon 10/08/15 8
11 Out to Tender 45 days? Mon 07/09/15 Fri 06/11/15 10
12 Approval of Tender 0 days Thu 03/12/15 Thu 03/12/15
13 Contract Documents 10 days? Thu 03/12/15 Wed 16/12/15 12
14 Lead-in 31 days? Fri 18/12/15 Fri 29/01/16 13
15 On site 415 days? Mon 01/02/16 Fri 01/09/17 14
16 Phase 3 620 days? Mon 20/07/15 Fri 01/12/17

17 Planning Application 64 days Mon 20/07/15 Thu 15/10/15
18 Planning Decision 1 day? Fri 16/10/15 Fri 16/10/15 17
19 Out to Tender 45 days Fri 13/11/15 Thu 14/01/16 18
20 Approval of Tender 0 days Thu 03/03/16 Thu 03/03/16
21 Contract Documents 10 days Mon 07/03/16 Fri 18/03/16 20
22 Lead-in 28 days Wed 23/03/16 Fri 29/04/16 21
23 On site 415 days Mon 02/05/16 Fri 01/12/17 22
24 Phase 4 622 days? Mon 19/10/15 Tue 06/03/18

25 Planning Application 64 days Mon 19/10/15 Thu 14/01/16
26 Planning Decision 1 day? Fri 15/01/16 Fri 15/01/16 25
27 Out to Tender 45 days Mon 22/02/16 Fri 22/04/16 26
28 Approval of Tender 0 days Thu 09/06/16 Thu 09/06/16
29 Contract Documents 10 days Fri 10/06/16 Thu 23/06/16 28
30 Lead-in 28 days Fri 24/06/16 Tue 02/08/16 29
31 On site 415 days Wed 03/08/16 Tue 06/03/18 30
32 Phase 5 621 days? Mon 18/01/16 Mon 04/06/18

33 Planning Application 64 days Mon 18/01/16 Thu 14/04/16
34 Planning Decision 1 day? Fri 15/04/16 Fri 15/04/16 33
35 Out to Tender 45 days Mon 18/04/16 Fri 17/06/16 34
36 Approval of Tender 0 days Thu 08/09/16 Thu 08/09/16
37 Contract Documents 10 days Thu 08/09/16 Wed 21/09/16 36
38 Lead-in 28 days Thu 22/09/16 Mon 31/10/16 37
39 On site 415 days Tue 01/11/16 Mon 04/06/18 38

04/06

27/07

05/08

03/12

03/03

09/06

08/09

MarAprMayJun Jul AugSep OctNovDec Jan FebMarAprMayJun Jul AugSep OctNovDec Jan FebMarAprMayJun Jul AugSep OctNovDec Jan FebMarAprMayJun Jul Aug
Qtr 1, 2015Qtr 2, 2015 Qtr 3, 2015 Qtr 4, 2015 Qtr 1, 2016 Qtr 2, 2016 Qtr 3, 2016 Qtr 4, 2016 Qtr 1, 2017Qtr 2, 2017 Qtr 3, 2017 Qtr 4, 2017 Qtr 1, 2018Qtr 2, 2018 Qtr 3, 2018

Task

Split

Milestone

Summary

Project Summary

External Tasks

External Milestone

Inactive Task

Inactive Milestone

Inactive Summary

Manual Task

Duration-only

Manual Summary Rollup

Manual Summary

Start-only

Finish-only

Deadline

Progress

Page 1

Project: CHBCC Project Plan
Date: Mon 18/05/15

P
age 231



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to the Council Housebuilding 
Cabinet Committee 
 
Report reference:   CHB-005-2015/16 
Date of meeting: 4 June 2015 

 
Portfolio: 
 

Housing 
Subject: 
 

Sites making up Phases 4 and 5  
 
Responsible Officer: 
 

 
Paul Pledger, Assistant Director (Housing Property 
& Development) (01992 564248) 

Democratic Services Officer: Jackie Leither  (01992 564756) 
 

 
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 
(1)   That subject to the Cabinet approving the feasibility studies elsewhere on the 
agenda at St. Peters Avenue and Queensway, Ongar and Millfield, High Ongar, 
taking account of the priority order agreed by the Cabinet Committee in March 
2015, Phase 4 be made up of 31 new homes on the following 9 sites in Buckhurst 
Hill and Ongar agreed as viable by the Cabinet Committee, based on a total 
scheme cost of £5,836,520, with a subsidy requirement of £2,053,000: 
 

a) St. Peters Avenue, Ongar 
b) Queensway, Ongar 
c) Millfield, High Ongar 
d) Bourne House, Buckhurst Hill 
e) Hornbeam Close (Site A), Buckhurst Hill 
f) Hornbeam Close (Site B), Buckhurst Hill 
g) Hornbeam House, Buckhurst Hill 
h) Loughton Way, Buckhurst Hill 
i) Pentlow Way, Buckhurst Hill 

 
(2) That, Phase 5 be made up of 49 new homes on the following 15 sites in Loughton 

already agreed as viable by the Cabinet Committee, based on a total scheme cost 
of £8,335,700, with a subsidy requirement of £2,444,000: 

 
a) Bushfields, Loughton 
b) Chester Road, Loughton 
c) Chequers Road (Site A), Loughton 
d) Chequers Road (site B), Loughton 
e) Etheridge Road, Loughton 
f) Hillyfields, Loughton 
g) Kirby Close, Loughton 
h) Ladyfields, Loughton 
i) Langley Meadow, Loughton 
j) Lower Alderton Hall Lane, Loughton 
k) Pyrles Lane (Site A), Loughton 
l) Pyrles Lane (Site B), Loughton 
m) Thatchers Close, Loughton 
n) Vere Road, Loughton 
o) Whitehills Road, Loughton 

 
 

Page 233

Agenda Item 9



(3)    That, the former garage sites and associated amenity land listed above as 
making up Phases 4 and 5, together with all sites previously considered and 
agreed to form Phase 3  by the Cabinet Committee at its meeting in March 2015 
as viable for the development of Council House Building, be appropriated for 
planning purposes under provisions laid out in the Local Government Act 1972 
and Town and Country Planning Act 1990 on the grounds that the land is no 
longer required for the purposes for which it is currently held in the Housing 
Revenue Account; and 

 
(4) That, subject to the sites and phasing listed in recommendations (1) and (2) 

above being agreed, each site be progressed to detailed design stage, with 
planning applications being submitted and, subject to planning approval, tenders 
to be sought in accordance with the Procurement Strategy for House-building. 

 
Executive Summary: 
 
The Cabinet has previously agreed a number of feasibility studies from the list of potential 
development sites for Council House-building, and the Cabinet Committee has also agreed at 
its meeting in March 2015 a strategic approach to the prioritisation of those sites by area 
taking account of demand from those applicants registered on the Council’s housing waiting 
list. This report seeks to batch those sites that have been agreed as viable into future phases, 
and to progress those sites through the planning and tender stages. 
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
 
There is a need to agree the sites that are to go forward for future phases of the Council 
House-building Programme. 
 
Other Options for Action: 
 
The only alternative option would be to alter the list of sites proposed for phases 4 and 5. 
 
Background 
 
1. Over the last 18-months, the Cabinet Committee has considered a number of detailed 

feasibility studies for individual sites from across the district. Many of these sites have 
already been included in early phases of the house-building programme, which are at 
different stages in the process that will ultimately lead to the completion of new affordable 
Council housing. However, it is still necessary to batch sites to make up phases 4 and 5.  

 
2. At its meeting in March 2015, the Cabinet Committee agreed an updated Policy on the 

future prioritisation of development sites based on rotating the developments around the 
towns/villages where sites are located, so that all areas have the benefit of affordable 
housing being provided in their area, with priority given to areas in which the highest 
number of housing applicants live. 

 
3. Based on that Policy, it is recommended that subject to the Cabinet approving the 

feasibility studies elsewhere on the agenda at St. Peters Avenue and Queensway, Ongar 
and Millfield, High Ongar, based on the consolidated financial viability assessment at 
appendix 2, Phase 4 of the House-building Programme be made up of 31 new homes on 
the following 9 sites in Buckhurst Hill and Ongar agreed individually as viable by the 
Cabinet Committee, based on a total scheme cost of £5,836,520, with a subsidy 
requirement of £2,053,000: 

 
 
a) St. Peters Avenue, Ongar 
b) Queensway, Ongar 
c) Millfield, High Ongar 

Page 234



d) Bourne House, Buckhurst Hill 
e) Hornbeam Close (Site A), Buckhurst Hill 
f) Hornbeam Close (Site B), Buckhurst Hill 
g) Hornbeam House, Buckhurst Hill 
h) Loughton Way, Buckhurst Hill 
i) Pentlow Way, Buckhurst Hill 

 
4. Furthermore, based on the consolidated financial viability assessment at appendix 2, it is 

recommended that Phase 5 be made up of 49 new homes on the following 15 sites in 
Loughton already agreed individually as viable by the Cabinet Committee, based on a 
total scheme cost of £8,335,700, with a subsidy requirement of £2,444,000: 

 
a) Bushfields, Loughton 
b) Chester Road, Loughton 
c) Chequers Road (Site A), Loughton 
d) Chequers Road (site B), Loughton 
e) Etheridge Road, Loughton 
f) Hillyfields, Loughton 
g) Kirby Close, Loughton 
h) Ladyfields, Loughton 
i) Langley Meadow, Loughton 
j) Lower Alderton Hall Lane, Loughton 
k) Pyrles Lane (Site A), Loughton 
l) Pyrles Lane (Site B), Loughton 
m) Thatchers Close, Loughton 
n) Vere Road, Loughton 
o) Whitehills Road, Loughton 

 
Appropriation of the Sites 
 

5. The Cabinet Committee have been delegated authority to appropriate land for planning 
purposes as set out in its Terms of Reference. However, as a reminder, the Council holds 
property for various statutory purposes in order to provide its various functions. Such land 
is used only for the purpose of the function for which it was originally acquired, until such 
time as the land is disposed of or “appropriated” for another use. 

 
6. Appropriation is the procedure under the Local Government Act 1972 and Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 to change the purpose for which the land is held for one 
statutory purpose to another, provided that the land is no longer required for the purpose 
for which it was held immediately before the appropriation. The consent of the Secretary 
of State is required to appropriate the land. 

 
7. The Council wishes to see each of the development sites redeveloped for the specific 

purpose of residential accommodation on a land which previously was used for garages 
and / or amenity land, which in the current usage the former are not fit for that purpose. By 
appropriating the sites for planning purposes, the Council will be able to secure its 
redevelopment and future use by relying on the statutory provisions relating to the 
redevelopment and disposal of the land held for planning purposes. 

 
8. There is a risk that the proposed re-development scheme may be frustrated by third party 

rights, which would in turn frustrate the Council’s regeneration objectives for the sites. By 
appropriating land, once planning permission is obtained, the rights of affected third 
parties can be overridden to the extent that they become an entitlement to compensation 
rather than a right to obtain an injunction to prevent the scheme. 

 
9. It is therefore recommended that the former garage sites and associated amenity land 

listed above as making up Phases 4 and 5, together with all sites previously considered 
and agreed to form Phase 3  by the Cabinet Committee at its meeting in March 2015 as 

Page 235



viable for the development of Council House Building, be appropriated for planning 
purposes under provisions laid out in the Local Government Act 1972 and Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 on the grounds that the land is no longer required for the 
purposes for which it is currently held in the Housing Revenue Account; 

 
 
Resource Implications: 
 

A capital expenditure for Phase 4 of £5,836,520, with a subsidy requirement of 
£2,053,000 to achieve a 30-year pay-back; A capital expenditure for Phase 5 of 
£8,335,700, with a subsidy requirement of £2,444,000 also to achieve a 30-year pay-back. 
The Cabinet has already agreed the required resources to deliver the Programme for the 
foreseeable future within the Housing Capital Programme, based on the Council’s HRA 
Financial Plan.  

 
Legal and Governance Implications: 
 
Having adopted a strategic approach, agreed in an open and transparent way, to the 
prioritisation of sites, it is considered good governance to follow that strategic approach. 
 
Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications: 
 
None. 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
Ward Councillors have been consulted on the individual feasibility studies. 
 
Background Papers: 
 

• Existing Policy on the Prioritisation of Sites agreed by the Cabinet Committee in 
February 2014, updated in March 2015. 

• Feasibility studies considered and agreed by the Cabinet Committee at various 
meetings over the past 18-months for each of the sites making up Phases 4 and 5, as 
set out in the recommendations. 

 
Impact Assessments: 
 
Risk Management 
 
There are no material risks associated with the proposed approach.  The key issue from a risk 
management point of view is to ensure that potential development sites have development 
and financial appraisals undertaken, and progressed to the planning stage, in timely and co-
ordinated fashion, to ensure that the Programme is not disrupted.   
 
There is a risk that the proposed re-development schemes may be frustrated by third 
party rights, which would in turn frustrate the Council’s regeneration objectives for the 
site. By appropriating land, once planning permission is obtained, the rights of affected 
third parties can be overridden to the extent that they become an entitlement to 
compensation rather than a right to obtain an injunction to prevent the scheme. 
 

 

Page 236



Due Regard Record 
 

This page shows which groups of people are affected by the subject of this 
report. It sets out how they are affected and how any unlawful 
discrimination they experience can be eliminated.  It also includes 
information about how access to the service(s) subject to this report can be 
improved for the different groups of people; and how they can be assisted to 
understand each other better as a result of the subject of this report.   
 
S149 Equality Act 2010 requires that due regard must be paid to this 
information when considering the subject of this report. 
 
 
Within the Housing Service Strategy, it has been identified that the target groups that 
are affected by the Council’s house building programme are people in need of: 

- Affordable Housing,  
- Homelessness assistance,  
- Supported housing for special needs groups,  
- Owners and occupiers of poor condition housing  
- Council and housing association tenants. 

 
From that, it was identified that generally, there is an under provision of suitable 
accommodation for nearly all target groups. This has been reaffirmed in the most 
recent Strategic Housing Market Assessment. 
 
Decision making is affected by funding and other factors, such as the availability of 
building land suitable for particular groups e.g. the elderly or young families.  
 
There is no evidence of unlawful discrimination in relation to the provision of 
affordable housing. 
 
 
 

 

Page 237



This page is intentionally left blank



Phase 4 - Summary of Works Costs Appendix 1

EFDC House Building Programme, 
Financial Modelling - Proval

phase Address Postcode Ward unit mix unit 
number works

Total 
Scheme Costs

(TSC)

Subsidy
required

subsidy
per unit TSC per unit NPV IRR 

in %

ph 4 St Peters Avenue CM5 0BT Ongar 8 x 3b5p 8 1,519,000£  1,740,474£     404,000£    50,500£   217,559£      534,954£    5.32
ph 4 Queensway, Ongar CM5 0BP Ongar 4 x 2b4p 4 833,000£     957,631£        358,000£    89,500£   239,408£      241,764£    5.33
ph 4 Millfield CM5 9RJ High Ongar 1 x 1b2p 1 261,000£     300,304£        225,000£    225,000£ 300,304£      26,468£      5.28
ph 4 Bourne House Buckhurst Hill IG9 6JY Buckhurst Hill East 2 x 3b5p 2 427,500£     491,018£        158,000£    79,000£   245,509£      134,839£    5.34
ph 4 Hornbeam Close, (Site A), Buckhurst Hill IG9 6JS Buckhurst Hill East 3 x 3b5p 3 543,120£     626,656£        126,000£    42,000£   208,885£      201,130£    5.33
ph 4 Hornbeam Close, (Site B), Buckhurst Hill IG9 6JS Buckhurst Hill East 3 x 3b5p 3 575,100£     658,909£        162,000£    54,000£   219,636£      204,877£    5.37
ph 4 Hornbeam House, Buckhurst Hill IG9 6JT Buckhurst Hill East 2 x 2b4p 2 320,000£     371,066£        84,000£      42,000£   185,533£      114,144£    5.34
ph 4 Loughton Way, Buckhurst Hill IG9 6AA Buckhurst Hill East 4 x 3b5p 4 831,900£     954,427£        288,000£    72,000£   238,607£      269,287£    5.34
ph 4 Pentlow Way, Buckhurst Hill IG9 6BZ Buckhurst Hill East 4 x 1b2p 4 525,900£     602,226£        248,000£    62,000£   150,557£      137,377£    5.32

Totals 31 5,836,520£  2,053,000£ 

Notes:
Rents = 1bed £119.59, 2 bed £165.58, 3 bed £180
Financial target = loan payback in year 30

P
age 239



This page is intentionally left blank



Phase 5 - Summary of Works Costs Appendix 2

EFDC House Building Programme, 
Financial Modelling - Proval

phase Address Postcode Ward unit mix unit 
number works

Total 
Scheme Costs

(TSC)

Subsidy
required

subsidy
per unit TSC per unit NPV IRR in %

ph 5 Bushfields, Loughton IG10 3JR Loughton Alderton 2 x 2b4p 2 402,900£     463,120£        163,000£    81,500£   231,560£      120,487£    5.33
ph 5 Chester Road, Loughton IG10 2LR Loughton Broadway 3 x 2b4p 3 525,900£     605,637£        156,000£    52,000£   201,879£      181,409£    5.33
ph 5 Chequers Road, (Site A), Loughton IG10 3QF Loughton Alderton 3 x 3b5p 3 599,700£     689,713£        189,000£    63,000£   229,904£      201,073£    5.33
ph 5 Chequers Road, (Site B), Loughton IG10 3QF Loughton Alderton 2 x 2b4p 2 402,900£     463,120£        163,000£    81,500£   231,560£      120,487£    5.33
ph 5 Etheridge Road, Debden IG10 2HY Loughton Broadway 1 x 2b4p, 2 x 3b5p 3 624,300£     723,543£        252,000£    84,000£   241,181£      187,103£    5.32
ph 5 Hillyfields, Loughton IG10 2JT Loughton Fairmead 2 x 3b5p 2 330,600£     385,379£        56,000£      28,000£   192,690£      131,253£    5.32
ph 5 Kirby Close, Loughton IG10 3BA Loughton Roding 4 x 2b4p 4 659,700£     760,139£        160,000£    40,000£   190,035£      241,256£    5.33
ph 5 Ladyfields, Loughton IG10 3RP Loughton Alderton 7 x 2b4p 7 1,076,400£  1,239,919£     210,000£    30,000£   177,131£      417,493£    5.35
ph 5 Langley Meadows, Loughton IG10 2DL Loughton Broadway 2 x 1b2p 2 229,000£     267,659£        97,000£      97,000£   133,830£      65,125£      5.31
ph 5 Lower Alderton Hall Lane, Loughton IG10 3HA Loughton Alderton 2 x 2b4p 2 367,500£     423,742£        124,000£    62,000£   211,871£      120,955£    5.34
ph 5 Pyrles Lane, (Site A), Debden IG10 2NH Loughton Fairmead 2 x 2b4p 2 367,500£     425,081£        125,000£    62,500£   212,541£      120,616£    5.33
ph 5 Pyrles Lane, (Site B), Debden IG10 2NW Loughton Fairmead 3 x 3b5p 3 612,000£     710,068£        210,000£    70,000£   236,689£      201,718£    5.34
ph 5 Thatchers Close, Loughton IG10 2JH Loughton Fairmead 1 x 3b5p 1 195,300£     226,573£        60,000£      60,000£   226,573£      67,356£      5.34
ph 5 Vere Road, Loughton IG10 3SX Loughton Broadway 4 x 1b2p, 6 x 2b4p 10 1,330,000£  1,532,576£     275,000£    27,500£   153,258£      499,429£    5.32
ph 5 Whitehills Road, Loughton IG10 1TU Loughton St Mary's 3 x 3b5p 3 612,000£     703,375£        204,000£    68,000£   234,458£      202,411£    5.34

Totals 49 8,335,700£  2,444,000£ 

Notes:
Rents = 1bed £119.59, 2 bed £165.58, 3 bed £180
Financial target = loan payback in year 30

P
age 241



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to the Council Housebuilding 
Cabinet Committee 
 
Report reference:   CHB-006-2015/16 
Date of meeting: 4 June 2015 

 
Portfolio: 
 

Housing 
Subject: 
 

Progress Report – Marden Close & Faversham Hall Conversions, 
Phase 1 & 2 of the Council House-building Programme. 

Responsible Officer:  
 

P Pledger – Asst Director (Housing Property & 
Development) (01992 564248) 

Democratic Services: Jackie Leither (01992 564756) 
 

   
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 
That the current progress with regard to Marden Close and Faversham Hall, as well as 
Phases 1 and Phase 2 of the Council house-building programme be noted; 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
This report provides Members with an update on both progress to date and budget position 
for the redevelopment at Marden Close / Faversham Hall and at Phases 1 and 2. 
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
 
It is a requirement that the House-Building Cabinet Committee receives regular updates on 
progress and monitors expenditure against the House-building budget as delegated by the 
Cabinet. 
 
Other Options for Action: 
 
This report is for noting only.  
 
Report: 
 
Marden Close and Faversham Hall Conversion 
 
1. A financial Progress Report at Marden Close and Faversham Hall can be found at 
Appendix 1 of this report. From that, it can be seen that the Contractor, P A Finlay & Co, 
commenced works on site on 15 September 2014 with completion due on 18 September 
2015. The agreed tender sum for the works is £819,861, with payment to date of 
£359,766.50.  
 
2. There have been a number of unforeseen issues that have given rise to a delay on site 
and an increase in the cost of the works. These include asbestos panels behind the fascia 
and soffit boards; missing lintels over windows; a large proportion of the brickwork requiring  
repointing due to its poor condition; the external concrete staircase to Faversham Hall was 
found to be unsupported; and adjustments required to the refuse and storage enclosures at 
Marden Close. The anticipated final account is being forecast by the Employers Agent 
Pellings LLP to be £899,861.00, amounting to an increase of £80,000 (9.76%). Completion is 
now due in October 2015, some 4-weeks behind programme. 
 

Page 243

Agenda Item 10



Phase 1 
 
3. A financial Progress Report for all 4 sites making up Phase 1 can be found at Appendix 2 
of this report. From that, it can be seen that the Contractor, Broadway Construction Ltd, 
commenced works on site on 27 October 2014 and are due to complete on 13 November 
2015. The agreed tender sum for the works is £3,245,143.62, with payment to date of 
£374,586.00.  
 
4. It is the view of Pellings LLP that the works are in delay by between 16 – 20 weeks. The 
contractor, Broadway Construction Ltd has made verbal requests as they feel they have an 
entitlement to additional costs for foundation design (piling on 3 out of 4 sites); drainage on 
the Roundhills sites to replace pitch-fibre pipework; and, for remediation of contaminated 
ground. An allowance of £150,000 has been made in the financial progress report attached at 
Appendix 2. Separately, a revision to the design at Harveyfields to better accommodate the 
waste and recycling facilities is estimated to cost an additional £20,000. 
 
5. If the Council were to agree to the verbal request for additional costs from Broadway 
Construction Ltd, the revised anticipated final account is estimated to be around 
£3,415,143.62, amounting to an increase of around £170,000 (5.2%). It is the view of Pellings 
that the tender was unconditional and there is no contractual entitlement to these additional 
costs. 
 
6. To date, there have been no formal requests for either an extension of time or additional 
costs. 
 
Phase 2 
 
6. A revised planning application has been submitted for 51 new affordable homes making up 
Phase 2 of the Council’s house-building programme. The application is due to be considered 
at the Council’s District Development Committee on 5 August 2015. 
 
Resource Implications: 
 

• Around £970,000 – Marden Close and Faversham Hall conversion (Works and Fees). 
This is funded from the Service Enhancement Fund. However, 1-4-1 RTB Receipts 
can be used to part fund the conversion of Faversham Hall, but not Marden Close. 

• Around £3,639,000 – Phase 1 of the Council House-building Programme (Works and 
Fees) funded from 1-4-1 RTB Receipts, other grants, S.106 contributions and existing 
Capital budgets for Council House-building. 
 

Legal and Governance Implications: 
 
Within its Terms of Reference, the House-Building Cabinet Committee is expected to monitor 
both progress and budgets for the House-building programme. 
 
Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications: 
 
Redeveloping under-utilised garages adds value to and enhances the local environment and 
streetscape. 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
Local Ward Councillors and Residents associated with each of the sites have been 
consulted, either at the Cabinet Committee meeting or through the Town and County 
Planning Act consultation process. 
 

Page 244



Background Papers: 
 
The Development Strategy, as well as feasibility studies and investment reports for Marden 
Close & Faversham Hall, Phase 1, together with the Housing Portfolio Holder report on the 
outcome of the tender exercise for Marden Close and Faversham Hall and the Cabinet report 
on the acceptance of tender for Phase 1. 
 
Risk Management: 
 
Within the financial viability assessments, the greatest risk is that the assumptions prove to 
be incorrect resulting in each phase being un-viable. Now that the tenders for Marden Close 
& Faversham Hall as well as Phase 1 of the Council House-building Programme have now 
been received, these risks are significantly reduced. However, there is always the risk that 
unforeseen matters will arise during the construction phase. 
 
In other cases where tenders have not yet been received, these risks are mitigated by the 
Council being able to either add more subsidy or not to progress the works beyond the 
planning stage. 
 
In addition, a project wide risk register as well as a project specific risk register have been 
compiled, with project wide risks being monitored by the Cabinet Committee, and site specific 
risk assessments monitored by the Project Team. 
 

 

Page 245



Due Regard Record 
 

This page shows which groups of people are affected by the subject of this 
report. It sets out how they are affected and how any unlawful 
discrimination they experience can be eliminated.  It also includes 
information about how access to the service(s) subject to this report can be 
improved for the different groups of people; and how they can be assisted to 
understand each other better as a result of the subject of this report.   
 
S149 Equality Act 2010 requires that due regard must be paid to this 
information when considering the subject of this report. 
 
 
Within the Housing Service Strategy, it has been identified that the target groups that 
are affected by the Council’s house building programme are people in need of: 

- affordable housing,  
- homelessness assistance,  
- supported housing for special needs groups,  
- owners and occupiers of poor condition housing  
- council and housing association tenants. 

 
From that, it was identified that generally, there is an under provision of suitable 
accommodation for nearly all target groups. This has been reaffirmed in the most 
recent Strategic Housing Market Assessment. 
 
Decision making is affected by funding and other factors, such as the availability of 
building land suitable for particular groups e.g. the elderly or young families.  
 
There is no evidence of unlawful discrimination in relation to the provision of 
affordable housing. 
 
 
 

Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Report to the Council Housebuilding 
Cabinet Committee 
 
Report reference:   CHB-007-2015/16 
Date of meeting: 4 June 2015 

 
Portfolio: 
 

Housing 
Subject: 
 

Council House-building Programme – Risk Register 
Responsible Officer:  
 

P Pledger – Asst Director (Housing Property & 
Development) (01992 564248) 

Democratic Services: Jackie Leither (01992 564756) 
 

   
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 
That the Programme-wide Risk Register for the Council House-building Programme be 
noted. 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
Attached at appendix 1 to this report is the project wide risk register associated with the 
Council’s House-building Programme, which is for review, commenting or noting as 
appropriate. 
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
 
The Council’s Housebuilding Programme is a major undertaking, involving significant 
amounts of money and risks, it is essential that the Officer Project Team and the Cabinet 
Committee record, monitor and mitigate those risks. 
 
Other Options for Action: 
 
(a)  Not to have a Risk Register – but it would not be appropriate to contemplate such an 
option; and 
 
(b)  To request amendments to the format or content of the Programme-wide Risk Register. 
 
Report: 
 
1. Since the Council’s Housebuilding Programme is a major undertaking, involving 
significant amounts of money and risks, it is essential that the Officer Project Team and the 
Cabinet Committee record, monitor and mitigate those risks. 
 
2. Pellings LLP, who are the Employers Agent appointed by the Council’s Development 
Agent East Thames, produce and keep up to date the Risk Registers for the House-building 
Programme. 
 
3. Following approval by the Cabinet of individual developments and development 
packages, Pellings LLP produce and keep updated Risk Registers for each 
development/phase, which is monitored by the Project Team at Project Team Meetings. 
 

Page 251

Agenda Item 11



4. In addition, a “Programme-wide” Risk Register, which is a “live document” for the 
House-building Programme is also updated and monitored by the Cabinet Committee. The 
latest version is attached as an appendix to this report. 
 
Resource Implications: 
 
If risks are not properly identified or managed, it could result in additional costs to the Council, 
with the amounts dependent on the issue and its severity. 
 
Legal and Governance Implications: 
 
There is no legal requirement to have and maintain a Risk Register, but it is good governance 
practice to do so. 
 
Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications: 
 
None 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
None 
 
Background Papers: 
 
None 
 
Risk Management: 
 
The purpose of the Risk Register is to record, monitor and mitigate risks 
 

Page 252



Due Regard Record 
 

This page shows which groups of people are affected by the subject of this 
report. It sets out how they are affected and how any unlawful 
discrimination they experience can be eliminated.  It also includes 
information about how access to the service(s) subject to this report can be 
improved for the different groups of people; and how they can be assisted to 
understand each other better as a result of the subject of this report.   
 
S149 Equality Act 2010 requires that due regard must be paid to this 
information when considering the subject of this report. 
 
 
Within the Housing Service Strategy, it has been identified that the target groups that 
are affected by the Council’s house building programme are people in need of: 

- affordable housing,  
- homelessness assistance,  
- supported housing for special needs groups,  
- owners and occupiers of poor condition housing  
- council and housing association tenants. 

 
From that, it was identified that generally, there is an under provision of suitable 
accommodation for nearly all target groups. This has been reaffirmed in the most 
recent Strategic Housing Market Assessment. 
 
Decision making is affected by funding and other factors, such as the availability of 
building land suitable for particular groups e.g. the elderly or young families.  
 
There is no evidence of unlawful discrimination in relation to the provision of 
affordable housing. 
 
 
 

Page 253



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 255



Page 256


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 HCA Investment Partner Qualification
	6 Feasibility Studies
	1. Palmers Grove, Nazeing EN9 2QF - Feasibility Study
	2. Pound Close, Nazeing EN9 2HR - Feasibility Report
	3. Millfield, High Ongar CM5 9RJ - Feasibility Study
	4. St Peters Avenue CM5 0BT - Feasibility Report
	5. Queensway, Ongar, CM5 0BP - Feasibility Report
	6. Graylands CM16 7LB - Feasibility Report
	7. Green Glade CM16 7LZ
	8. Colvers, Matching Green CM17 0PX - Feasibility Study
	9. Site A Parkfields CM19 5JB - Feasibility Study

	7 Financial Report
	APP 1 - Finance Report (RTB Receipts)
	APP 2 - Finance Report (Other Funding)
	APP 3 - Finance Report (Expenditure Profile)

	8 Acceleration of the Housebuilding Programe
	CHB-004 -  Project Plan - May 2015

	9 Future Sites - Phases 4 & 5
	1. Phase 4 - Financial modelling (Appendix 1)
	2. Phase 5 - Financial modelling (Appendix 2)

	10 Marden Close and Phase 1 & 2 Progress Report
	Appendix 1 - FPR at Marden Close and Faversham Hall
	Appendix 2 - FPR at Phase 1

	11 Risk Register
	ETHG Risk Management Schedule programme wide Issue 03 - 04.08.14


